

University of Central Florida

Electronic Theses and Dissertations, 2004-2019

2012

Age As A Factor In Inter-tissue Spacing Of Stable Carbon Isotope Values In Juvenile Human Remains From The Dakhleh Oasis, Egypt

Annie Laurie Norris University of Central Florida

Part of the Biological and Physical Anthropology Commons Find similar works at: https://stars.library.ucf.edu/etd University of Central Florida Libraries http://library.ucf.edu

This Masters Thesis (Open Access) is brought to you for free and open access by STARS. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Theses and Dissertations, 2004-2019 by an authorized administrator of STARS. For more information, please contact STARS@ucf.edu.

STARS Citation

Norris, Annie Laurie, "Age As A Factor In Inter-tissue Spacing Of Stable Carbon Isotope Values In Juvenile Human Remains From The Dakhleh Oasis, Egypt" (2012). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations, 2004-2019*. 2229.

https://stars.library.ucf.edu/etd/2229



AGE AS A FACTOR IN INTER-TISSUE SPACING OF STABLE CARBON ISOTOPE VALUES IN JUVENILE HUMAN REMAINS FROM THE DAKHLEH OASIS, EGYPT

by

ANNIE LAURIE NORRIS B.A.S. University of California, Davis, 2009

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Arts in the Department of Anthropology in the College of Sciences at the University of Central Florida Orlando, Florida

Summer Term 2012

ABSTRACT

Although stable isotope analysis is routinely utilized in bioarchaeology and relies on principles that are well-understood, there are still fundamental issues that have not been thoroughly investigated. This thesis examines the relationship between inter-tissue spacing of carbon stable isotope values (δ^{13} C) and age in juvenile human remains. Analyses of tissues within the same individual reveal disparate isotopic values for a variety of physiological and biological reasons discussed herein. This project examines the distance between the $\delta^{13}C$ values in bone collagen, skin, hair, and nail, and examines how these distances vary between different age groups, utilizing data collected from 52 well-preserved human remains from the Dakhleh Oasis, Egypt: 28 individuals between the ages of 1 and 4 years, 14 between 5 and 10 years, and 10 between the ages of 11-15 years. The mean carbon isotope values for each tissue were compared across each age group, and used to calculate the differences between each tissue type. Although distances between tissues were found to vary across all age categories, the distances between collagen and hair, collagen and skin, and collagen and nail are all substantially greater in the 11-15 year old category than those in the 1-4 and 5-10 year categories. Possible physiological, developmental and social factors are discussed in an effort to explain this discrepancy.

©2012 Annie Laurie Norris

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Many thanks to the members of my committee for their help, kindness and understanding during this rather frantic and frenetic writing period. Thank you to Dr. Tosha Dupras and Dr. Lana Williams for finding a new option for me when my initial project fell through, and for all the advice and inestimable support you've given me during the entire process. Thank you to Dr. Matthew McIntyre for helping so much with my statistics (God knows I needed it). Finally, thank you to my parents, for infusing me early on with a curiosity about the human past, about history and archaeology and biology and all those other things that end in –ology, and for encouraging me in all my pursuits, no matter how strange. And a special thanks to my mother, for enduring the hell that is last-minute proofreading. My sincere apologies.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF FIGURES	vii
LIST OF TABLES	viii
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION	1
CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW	5
Stable Isotope Analysis	5
History and Basic Chemical Principles	6
Stable Carbon Isotope Analysis	
Tissues Used in Analyses	11
Bone Collagen	11
Soft Tissues	
Carbon Fractionation and Inter-Tissue Spacing	
CHAPTER THREE: MATERIALS AND METHODS	
Materials	
The Dakhleh Oasis	
Kellis 2 Cemetery	
Sample Used in this Study	
Methods	
Isotopic Sample Preparation	

Analysis of Isotopic Data
CHAPTER FOUR: RESULTS
1-4 Year Cohort 45
5-10 Year Cohort
11-15 Year Cohort
Inter-tissue Spacing
CHAPTER FIVE: DISCUSSION
Inter-tissue Spacing
Cohort Variation
Comparisons 54
To Other Studies
Comparison with the Dakhleh Adult Population
11-15 Year Cohort: Adolescence in the Dakhleh Oasis
CHAPTER SIX: CONCLUSION
APPENDIX: RAW DATA
REFERENCES

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Map of the Egypt showing location of the Dakhleh Oasis with an inset showing the
location of Kellis 2 (Map courtesy of Dr. Lana Williams)
Figure 2: Map of Kellis 2 Cemetery (Map courtesy of L. Williams)
Figure 3: Burial Locations of Individuals Sampled from the Kellis 2 Cemetery (Map courtesy of
L. Williams)
Figure 4: Age Demographics of the Sample
Figure 5: Mean δ^{13} C (‰) by age category and tissue type
Figure 6: Mean, standard deviation, and range of δ^{13} C (‰) values for each age cohort within
each tissue type
Figure 7: Mean, standard deviation, maximum and minimum $\delta^{13}C$ (‰) values of different tissues
in 1-4 year age cohort
Figure 8: Mean, standard deviation, maximum and minimum $\delta^{13}C$ (‰) values of different tissues
in 5-10 year age cohort
Figure 9: Mean, standard deviation, maximum and minimum $\delta^{13}C$ (‰) values of different tissues
in 11-15 year age cohort
Figure 10: Inter-tissue spacing of mean δ^{13} C (‰) values in K2 juveniles
Figure 11: Inter-tissue spacing of mean δ^{13} C (‰) values (1 st cm hair and proximal end of nail) 50
Figure 12: Inter-tissue spacing of mean δ^{13} C (‰) values: juveniles and adults

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Comparison of differences between δ^{13} C values of tissues across multiple studies 28
Table 2: List of Samples Aged 1-4 Years (n=28)
Table 3: List of Samples Aged 5-10 Years (n=14) 37
Table 4: List of Samples Aged 11-15 years (n=10)
Table 5: Tissue representation by number of individuals
Table 6: Number of samples, mean δ^{13} C values, and standard deviation by age group
Table 7: Number of samples, mean δ^{13} C values, and standard deviation for all ages
Table 8: Mean, standard deviation, maximum and minimum δ^{13} C (‰) values of different tissues
in 1-4 year age cohort
Table 9: Mean, standard deviation, maximum and minimum $\delta^{13}C$ (‰) values of different tissues
in 5-10 year age cohort
Table 10: Mean, standard deviation, maximum and minimum $\delta^{13}C$ (‰) values of different
tissues in 11-15 year age cohort
Table 11: Differences between mean δ^{13} C (‰) values of tissues
Table 12: Inter-tissue spacing of all mean δ^{13} C (‰) values
Table 13: Comparison of δ^{13} C (‰) values from present study to those from Williams (2005) 55
Table 14: Comparison of $\delta 1^{3}$ C inter-tissue spacing between this study and others
Table 15: Mean δ^{13} C (‰) values compared between juveniles, adults, and total population 58
Table 16: Inter-tissue spacing of mean δ^{13} C values: juveniles and adults
Table 17: Hair δ^{13} C Values for All Age Categories

CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION

Since its introduction to bioarchaeology in the late 1970s, stable isotope analysis has become a routine procedure in dietary reconstruction of past populations. Although soft tissues have frequently been the subject of studies in a laboratory setting or modern population, in the archaeological context, bones and teeth have been the focus of isotopic research for the obvious, pragmatic reasons of availability. Nevertheless, in the appropriate environmental conditions, tissues like skin, hair and fingernails may be preserved, and have also proved useful for dietary analysis.

The relationships between the isotopic values found in an individual's diet and those found in their tissues, however, are not always clear-cut and straight-forward. Stable isotopes of a given element exist in a ratio of natural abundance in the atmosphere, but as these elements enter and ascend the food chain, the processes of fractionation cause the ratios of isotopes to shift (Hoefs, 2009). The stable isotopes of carbon, ¹²C and ¹³C, are incorporated into plants via photosynthesis of atmospheric CO₂, and the ratio of one to the other is altered; the new ratio will depend on what photosynthetic pathway a particular plant utilizes. As the plant is consumed by animals, and those animals are likewise consumed, these fractionation processes continue to alter the basic abundance ratios of ¹³C to ¹²C (Hoefs, 2009). Within the tissues of a consumer, further fractionation effects are evident, as different aspects of the diet are incorporated into different tissues. The end result is that within a human body, there is an offset or enrichment factor between the isotopic values in the food the person consumed and those in the body, and there are likewise offsets between different tissues within the same individual. This inter-tissue spacing of isotopic values is affected by a number of intrinsic and extrinsic factors. These include differing tissue turnover rates, protein composition, and seasonal or even individual diet variation. These processes have been explored in controlled feeding studies using animal models (e.g. DeNiro and Epstein, 1978; Tieszen et al., 1983; Ambrose and Norr, 1993; Tieszen and Fagre, 1993; Warinner and Tuross, 2009), in modern human populations (e.g. O'Connell et al., 2001), and using archaeological human remains (e.g. White, 1991; White and Schwarcz, 1994; Finucane, 2007; Knudson et al., 2007; Williams, 2008; Corr et al., 2009; Raghavan et al., 2010). And yet, questions remain. One question is the extent to which age affects inter-tissue spacing, particularly age in juvenile individuals. Some age categories of juveniles are less prevalent in isotopic studies than adults, owing to their relative rarity at many archaeological sites. Many studies on inter-tissue spacing have either reported no difference between age groups, or have focused only on differences related to the contents of diet, and the variation among different age grades in a population.

To help clarify this issue, the content of this thesis is centered on the question of intertissue spacing of δ^{13} C values, with a focus on variation by age in juvenile human remains. The results indicate not only that there may be significant differences in inter-tissue spacing of isotope values between different age groups, but that these differences may have social or physiological ramifications that have little to do with differential diet content. Bone collagen, hair, nail, and skin δ^{13} C values from 52 well-preserved human remains from the Dakhleh Oasis, Egypt, originally analyzed by Dr. Tosha Dupras (1999) and Dr. Lana Williams (2008), were examined for this project. Differences among the mean isotope values were calculated for each tissue within each of three age cohorts (1-4 years, 5-10 years and 11-15 years), delineated along

developmental lines (Wheeler, 2009). Individuals in the youngest cohort were in a most precarious position, as it is estimated that two-fifths of children in Roman Egypt did not live beyond the age of five (Bagnall, 1996). At the other end, juveniles between the ages of 11 and 15 were not only experiencing the physiological changes of puberty, with all its myriad challenges, but also the social changes and challenges of incipient adulthood. This project explores the variation in inter-tissue spacing between these groups.

This thesis is presented using a standard thesis format, presenting a literature review in Chapter Two, materials and methods in Chapter Three, results in Chapter Four, discussion of those results in Chapter Five, and a conclusion in Chapter Six. The second chapter begins with a basic overview of the principles of stable isotope research and a concise history of their application in archaeology, with a focus on carbon isotopes and their fractionation processes. Subsequent sections are devoted to the biology of bone collagen, skin, fingernails and hair, and the use of these tissues in isotope research. The section concludes with a discussion of research on inter-tissue spacing of isotopic values.

The Materials section of Chapter Three describes the samples used in this study, which come from the skeletal collection excavated from the Kellis 2 cemetery in the Dakhleh Oasis, Egypt. The hyper arid conditions of the Dakhleh Oasis, located in Egypt's Western Desert, presents a unique opportunity to conduct a study of this nature. Preservation is exceptional, and not only do mummified tissues exist in relative abundance, but unlike many archaeological sites, so do juvenile remains (Tocheri et al., 2005). Chapter Three describes the methods used to chemically process the tissue samples, and those used to analyze the results. The original chemical analyses of the bone samples were carried out by Dupras (1999) at McMaster

University, and the hair, nail and skin samples by Williams (2008) at the University of Western Ontario. Chapter Four presents the results of the inter-tissue spacing analyses of these data from the sample population.

Chapter Five, the Discussion section, examines possible interpretations of the results of the study. First, the overall trends are compared to data from other populations, and then the data from the juvenile sample is compared to data from the adult sample from the Kellis 2 population. The 11-15 year age cohort is discussed in detail due to observed differences between this cohort and the others, and various explanations for this difference are presented. Chapter Six summarizes the conclusions of the project and the broader implications for bioarchaeology, including areas of future research indicated by the findings.

CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW

Stable Isotope Analysis

Take even a cursory glance at the latest publications containing bioarchaeological scholarship, and you will have no difficulty locating several articles that involve isotopic research, used in a wide assortment of geographical regions to unravel an increasingly wide assortment of archaeological questions. The isotopic ratios in bone are a reflection of the diet an individual consumed and the geographic locale in which they lived, and as such they can provide a wealth of information relevant to the archaeological and social context of their lives. Since the first experimental findings on the subject were presented by Vogel and van der Merwe (1977) in their landmark study, "Isotopic evidence for early maize cultivation in New York State," stable isotope analysis of human remains has become a veritable staple of bioarchaeology.

Numerous reviews of the literature have been published on the subject. Many focus on paleodiet studies, the original application and still among the most prominent (e.g. Sillen et al., 1989; Schwarcz and Schoeninger, 1991; Schoeninger and Moore, 1992; Pate, 1994). More recent articles are more comprehensive, covering a wider range of applications and addressing the direction of future research (e.g. Katzenberg and Harrison, 1997; Katzenberg, 2008). Even literature reviews on the recent progresses and expansions in the field of bioarchaeology as a whole typically discuss the growing importance of stable isotope analysis in contributing to our understanding of the human past (e.g. Wright and Yoder, 2003; Larsen, 2006; Knudson and Stojanowski, 2008).

The scope of stable isotope research is vastly increasing, employing an array of elements (e.g. C, N, H, O, Sr, etc.) and utilizing different kinds of preserved human tissue (e.g., hair, nails,

skin, teeth, and bone). This review will focus only on the basic principles of analyzing stable carbon isotopes from bone collagen, hair, nails and skin. This requires some description of the essential biology of these tissues, as well as the chemical principles involved. From there, in accordance with the more specific theme of this project, relevant research on the subject of intertissue spacing of isotope signatures will also be addressed.

History and Basic Chemical Principles

'Isotopes' are different forms of the same element which differ in the number of neutrons, thus varying also in mass (Hoefs, 2009). Some of these isotopes are subject to radioactive decay, such as ¹⁴C (the number denotes the number of neutrons), which decays over time into ¹⁴N (Bowman, 1990). These are also referred to as 'unstable' (Hoefs, 2009). Stable isotopes, by contrast, are those that do not decay over time, but maintain their chemical composition. Carbon, for example, has two stable isotopes, ¹³C and ¹²C, in addition to the radioactive ¹⁴C (Hoefs, 2009). The majority of elements are composed of more than one isotopic form, but the proportionate abundance of each isotope for each element may differ considerably (Hoefs, 2009). Lighter isotopes – those with fewer neutrons – often outnumber heavier ones to a significant degree (Schoeller, 1999).

Aside from radioactive decay, the primary process which causes variation in the ratio of one isotope to another in an element is isotope fractionation, defined as the "partitioning of isotopes between two substances or two phases of the same substance with different isotope ratios" (Hoefs, 2009:5). As an element in the atmosphere is incorporated into a living organism, for example, the fractionation effect will cause an observable difference in the proportional abundance of different isotopes (Hoefs, 2009).

Stable isotope analysis, which can be considered an area of geochemical research, is used across a number of scientific fields, including environmental and forensic sciences. In bioarchaeology, it has its origins in radiocarbon dating, an earlier application of chemistry in archaeology, which was first introduced in the 1940s (Bowman, 1990). Indeed, much of the methodology developed for radiocarbon dating has subsequently been used in stable isotope analysis, including techniques for isolating collagen (Ambrose and Krigbaum, 2003; Katzenberg, 2008). And as Jonathan Haas commented in his forward to *The Chemistry of Prehistoric Human Bone*, "[w]hat radiocarbon dating did for chronology, bone chemistry studies do for diet" (1989: xviii).

It was in the late 1980s that stable isotope analysis saw rapid development, facilitated by advances in instrumentation making techniques more economically practical (Katzenberg, 2008). In 1989, Douglas Price made the following observation: "It is apparent that the study of archaeological bone chemistry is at a turning point, in transition from an experimental procedure to a major research technique" (1989: xxiv). The abundance of articles which have flourished since then, applying stable isotope analysis to bioarchaeology, appears to confirm this point.

It seems a natural evolution that stable carbon isotopes would be the first seized upon by archaeologists. Carbon from bone collagen was, after all, already subject to scrutiny for ¹⁴C dating techniques. The use of carbon isotopes from carbonate, derived from the mineral portion of bone, was first introduced in 1981 and sparked immediate controversy owing to questions about the effects of diagenesis, which can alter isotope values in apatite (Sullivan and Krueger, 1981; Lee-Thorp and van der Merwe, 1991). Although the carbon in collagen and the carbon in carbonate are ultimately derived from diet, different portions of the diet are reflected due to

differing fractionation processes, and therefore the isotopic ratios also differ between collagen and carbonate, which has compelled the exploration of using both sources for a more complete picture of paleodiet (Krueger and Sullivan, 1984; Jim et al., 2004; Kellner and Schoeninger, 2007).

Examination of other tissue types has also been of an area of growing interest. Although earlier studies employing animal models in controlled feeding experiments had compared isotope values between different tissues (e.g. DeNiro and Epstein, 1978; DeNiro and Epstein, 1981), it took rather longer for analysis of soft tissues to be included in an archaeological context, probably owing to the general paucity of such materials. White (1991) was among the earliest to analyze mummy tissues isotopically, in her dissertation on three Nubian populations utilizing muscle, skin and hair (White, 1991). Results showed certain disparities between the carbon enrichment factors for these tissues, an effect also observed in subsequent work using multiple tissues (e.g. O'Connell et al., 2001; Finucane, 2007; Knudson et al., 2007).

Stable Carbon Isotope Analysis

Isotopic data are reported in parts per mil (‰), using the delta notation, where:

$$\delta = \left[\frac{R_{sample} - R_{standard}}{R_{standard}}\right] \times 1000$$

The ratio of the heavy to the light isotope (R) in the sample is compared to that of a standard, which may be either internal to the laboratory performing the analysis, or one of the international standards produced by the International Atomic Energy Agency or the National Bureau of Standards (Schoeller, 1999; Katzenberg, 2008). Isotope ratio mass spectrometry is used to measure the abundance ratios of the stable isotopes of interest (Katzenberg, 2008). This process generates and segregates ions of the material by their mass-to-charge ratio (m/z) (Gross, 2004).

As discussed previously, carbon has two stable isotopes: ¹³C and ¹²C. The natural abundance of the two stable isotopes is ~98.93% for ¹²C and ~1.07% for ¹³C (Hoefs, 2009). The ratio of ¹³C/¹²C is determined as follows:

$$\delta^{13}C \%_{0} = \left[\frac{\binom{1^{3}C}{^{12}C}_{sample} - \binom{1^{3}C}{^{12}C}_{standard}}{\binom{1^{3}C}{^{12}C}_{standard}}\right] \times 1000$$

Much of the carbon in the human body derives ultimately from atmospheric CO₂, which enters the food chain via the carbon fixation processes of plants (Hoefs, 2009). The first paleodiet study to use carbon isotope ratios from archaeological human bone was an investigation of early maize consumption in prehistoric New York State (Vogel and van der Merwe, 1977). Maize, *Zea mays*, is a C₄ plant, i.e., one utilizing the Hatch-Slack or 4-carbon photosynthetic pathway for carbon-dioxide fixation, rather than the Calvin or 3-carbon pathway (Vogel and van der Merwe, 1977). For this reason, maize tended to return younger radiocarbon dates than contemporaneous materials owing to a high $^{14}C/^{12}C$ ratio (Ambrose and Krigbaum, 2003). These plants also show enriched $\delta^{13}C$ values (an average of -12.5‰) compared with C₃ plants (-26‰ on average), since the C₃ pathway depletes ^{13}C to a larger extent than does C₄ (Vogel and van der Merwe, 1977). It was proposed that, based on these differences between maize and surrounding flora, analyzing the carbon isotope component of bone could be used to determine whether or not ancient populations in certain areas cultivated maize (Hall, 1967).

Vogel and van der Merwe (1977) showed that, compared to the hunter-gatherers, the horticulturalists had higher ¹³C content and a definite C_4 content to their diet, supporting their hypothesis that maize exploitation could be detected by use of stable carbon isotope analysis. Because the introduction of maize cultivation marked an important point in the agricultural

history of the New World, many studies using similar methods followed examining its developmental patterns, particularly in North America (for review see Schwarcz and Schoeninger, 1991, or Pate, 1994). The cultivation of millet, another C₄ plant, has likewise been studied in China, using the same principles (Weld, 1985; as reported in Schwarcz and Schoeninger, 1991). Human carbon isotope values are also affected by the diets of the animals they consume, so C₄ plants inedible to humans, but consumed by animals in the human dietary food chain, may still be reflected in ¹³C values of human populations (Schwarcz and Schoeninger, 1991).

Identifying C₄ content in diet is not the only application for carbon isotopes. They have also been used to examine the relative importance of marine versus terrestrial resources in the diet (e.g. Tauber, 1981; Chisholm et al., 1982; Schoeninger and DeNiro, 1984). The ultimate source of carbon for terrestrial plants is atmospheric CO₂, whereas for marine life it is marine bicarbonate (Tauber, 1981; Chisholm et al., 1982). There is a 7-8‰ difference in δ^{13} C values between the two, with marine plants having elevated δ^{13} C compared to terrestrial (Tauber, 1981; Chisholm et al., 1982). This difference is likewise seen in animal and human consumers, although Schoeninger and DeNiro (1984) found that there could be considerable overlap between those with terrestrial and those with marine diets. In an environment which favors C₃ plants, populations predominantly exploiting terrestrial C₃ plants may thus be distinguished from populations favoring marine resources (e.g. Tauber, 1981). The obvious difficulty is that both marine resources and C₄ resources will elevate δ^{13} C values, which in some environments can make results ambiguous (Pate, 1994).

Tissues Used in Analyses

Bone Collagen

Bone is a composite tissue, both organic and inorganic in nature; the organic portion is primarily proteinaceous and composed of Type I collagen, while the inorganic or mineral portion is composed of hydroxylapatite (White et al., 2011). Collagen is the most prevalent protein found in the human body (White et al., 2011). Carbon, nitrogen, hydrogen, oxygen, amino acids and sulfur all contribute to the molecular make-up of collagen (Mays, 1998). It is a component of both bones and teeth, although collagen from the former exists in far more appreciable concentrations. Carbon and nitrogen concentrations are likewise lower in tooth collagen compared to that of bone (Ambrose, 1990). The turnover rate of bone collagen in adults is said to be around 10 years (Stenhouse and Baxter, 1979), although this varies depending on the bone, and it would be perhaps more accurate to say that it is between 3 and 20 years (Pate, 1994). As such, it may take as many as 10-20 years for the isotopic values in bone collagen to equilibrate to a change in diet (Katzenberg, 2008). Bone collagen turnover rates in juveniles are more difficult to come by, although Hedges and colleagues (2007) found that in adolescents between the ages of 10-15, the collagen turnover rate is approximately 10-30% per year, much higher than the 1.5-4% per year observed in adults.

Collagen may be well-preserved in the archaeological record, a fact which has led to the exploitation of collagen for both radiocarbon and stable isotopic studies. Furthermore, the organic portion of bone is less prone to contamination than the mineral portion, and contamination or degradation in collagen is more easily identifiable than in bone mineral (Schurr, 1998). Generally speaking, collagen is unlikely to be present beyond about 50,000 -

100,000 years of age (Fogel et al., 1997). This depends on the environmental conditions, and, in warmer climes, 10,000 years or less is the more likely cut-off point (Lee-Thorp and van der Merwe, 1987).

Still, there is the important question of post-depositional degradation, contamination, and overall structural integrity to consider. How well does the collagen component of an archaeological sample reflect the collagen component of the individual's skeleton as it was in life? There can be much variability in the environmental and other depositional conditions of skeletal remains, and therefore there can be much variability in the preservation of the chemical signatures of the remains. DeNiro (1985) was the first to test the assumption within paleodiet studies that isotope ratios in collagen remain consistent long after death. His findings indicated a need for methods of identifying cases in which alteration in isotope ratios has occurred due to collagen degradation. He observed, as did others afterward (e.g. Ambrose, 1990; van Klinken, 1999), that ratios of C:N could serve as an indicator of preservation quality. Ambrose (1990) and van Klinken (1999) list additional techniques used to detect diagenetic alteration to collagen, including examination of amino acid composition, overall collagen concentrations in whole bone, and the use of infrared spectra. Schoeninger and colleagues (1989) found success in the use of powder X-ray diffractometry as a method of excluding samples too poorly preserved to be suitable for chemical analysis.

Although Schoeninger and colleagues (1989) questioned the reliability of using carbon to nitrogen ratios to detect preservation, Ambrose (1990) observed that highly variable and unreliable results were obtained primarily in cases where the collagen concentrations in the bone were extremely low. Ambrose advocates carbon and nitrogen concentration in the collagen as the

"most useful and unequivocal measure of preservation and reliability of isotopic analysis" (1990: 433). Van Klinken (1999) concurs with this, citing overall collagen concentration, C:N ratios, and δ^{13} C values as the best means of identifying poorly preserved bone samples.

One further point on the subject is that the difference between contamination and degradation should be acknowledged; the former refers to "diagenetic alteration/breakdown" and the latter to the "presence of exogenous contaminants" (van Klinken, 1999: 688). Which one is more likely to be found on bone can depend upon the environment in which the bone is preserved. For instance, arid climates tend to lead to more degradation, while in temperate climates contamination tends to be a more pressing issue (Van Klinken, 1999). Van Klinken (1999) argues that contamination is generally of less concern for stable isotope analysis than it is for radiocarbon research, rarely causing significant changes to isotope ratios in the bone. However, degradation is a more important consideration, as low concentrations of collagen can alter isotopic signatures.

Soft Tissues

Soft tissues are only occasionally available for analysis in an archaeological context, and in recent years have been sporadically incorporated into bioarchaeological stable isotope research (e.g. White and Schwarcz, 1994; Macko et al., 1999; Schwarcz and White, 2004; Finucane, 2007; Knudson et al., 2007; Williams, 2008; Knudson et al., 2010; Williams et al., 2011). A number of studies have also been conducted using samples derived from living populations, or in controlled feeding studies (e.g. O'Connell and Hedges, 1999; O'Connell et al., 2001; Bol and Pflieger, 2002; Bol et al., 2007). Whereas bone collagen may reflect the individual's diet over a period of years, hair, nails and skin provide a record of diet in the shortterm, generally less than one year prior to death (White and Schwarcz, 1994; O'Connell and Hedges, 1999).

The isotopic examination of hair, nails and skin has also been adopted in forensic investigations, where such tissues are far more likely to be available than in archaeological contexts (e.g. Meier-Augenstein and Fraser, 2008; Meier-Augenstein, 2010).

Skin

Skin is the base component of the integumentary system, the primary function of which is to form a protective barrier between the body and the environment, as well as any hostile organisms (Freinkel and Woodley, 2001; Tallitsch et al., 2006). It also has a role in the regulation of body temperature and in sexual attraction (Freinkel and Woodley, 2001; Tallitsch et al., 2006). Hair, fingernails and toenails also constitute part of the integumentary system and are considered derivative or accessory structures of the skin, along with various glands (Haake et al., 2001).

Skin is composed of an external layer known as the epidermis, and an internal layer called the dermis. Sometimes the hypodermis, the layer underneath the dermis, is also included. Keratinocytes, which produce the structural protein keratin, make up the bulk of the epidermis, or some 90-95% of its cells (Haake et al., 2001). Epidermal cells are produced in the innermost basal layer, the statum germinativum, and are pushed to the surface layer, the statum corneum, over a period of 15-30 days, where they become inert and are subsequently shed (Tallitsch et al., 2006; Scanlon and Sanders, 2007). These dead cells remain for approximately two weeks, forming a protective outer shell of sorts which guards the more sensitive inner layers of the epithelium (Tallitsch et al., 2006; Scanlon and Sanders, 2007).

Of more significance for stable isotope research is the principal protein in the dermis, which is Type I collagen, as in bone (White and Schwarcz, 1994; Haake et al., 2001). The dermis, which acts as a pliable barrier and helps protect against injury, is composed of fibrous connective tissue (Haake et al., 2001). In the dermis reside many sensory receptors and accessory structures such as hair follicles (Haake et al., 2001). The collagen of the dermis makes up 75% of the skin's dry weight, and contributes to its elasticity and tensile strength (Haake et al., 2001). One potential issue in stable isotope research involving skin can be variation in sampling location and techniques, as samples taken at different parts of the body or at varying degrees of thickness may contain different percentages of epidermis, and therefore different ratios of collagen:keratin, which may affect isotopic values (Williams, 2005).

The turnover rate of collagen in human skin is estimated to be around 2-4 months (Finucane, 2007). Babraj and colleagues (2005) report that dermal collagen is synthesized at a rate of ~0.037%/h (in their young adult male subjects), a value similar to results from an earlier study by El-Harake et al. (1998), who found it to be ~ 0.076%/h, or just under 2% per day.

Human skin is rarely preserved in the archaeological record, and as such it has not been used as extensively as bone, or even hair. Nor is it as easily sampled from living human subjects as either hair or fingernails, so it is not often included in these analyses. However, under the conditions which lead to mummification, such as an extremely hot, arid environment or an extremely cold one, skin may be preserved well enough for utilization in isotopic research (e.g. White and Schwarcz, 1994; Finucane, 2007; Corr et al., 2009). It has also been demonstrated that natural mummification does not alter the chemical properties of collagen in skin (Michelin et al.,

1972). As yet, however, no recognized standard exists for determining preservation of skin samples for isotopic research (Williams, 2008).

Nails

Fingernails and toenails are accessory structures which form part of the integumentary system. They are issued from nail follicles nestled in the dermis, and protrude through the epidermis, where they serve the function of protecting the tips of the digits and increasing their dexterity (Tallitsch et al., 2006; Scanlon and Sanders, 2007). At the base, the nail root produces keratinized cells, which form, in an inert state, the rest of the nail (Tallitsch et al., 2006; Scanlon and Sanders, 2007). Keratin is a versatile structural protein, and in addition to skin, nails, and hair, it is also found in hooves, wool, claws, quills and cytoskeletons (Forslind and Lindberg, 2004; Koolman and Röhm, 2005). The amino acid cysteine in keratinized cells contains a remarkably high concentration of sulfur, and these cysteine-sulfur links provide the protein chains with a high degree of mechanical and chemical resistance and stability (Forslind and Lindberg, 2004). Keratin varies in its relative 'softness' or 'hardness,' as one may gather from the list of materials in which it is the primary component. Electrophoresis has been used to analyze dissolved protein in keratinized tissues, and the resulting patterns reveal that nail keratin is more similar in character to epidermal keratin, than to the keratin in hair (Forslind and Lindberg, 2004).

Nail growth has been shown to be affected by a number of factors, including age, sex, health, nutritional status, and even personal habits such as fingernail biting (Gilchrist and Buxton, 1939; Hamilton et al., 1955; Sibinga, 1959; Orentreich et al., 1979; Bean, 1980; Beaven and Brooks, 1994; de Berker and Forslind, 2004). Although inter-individual rates are highly

variable, within an individual nails grow at relatively steady rate each day (Beaven and Brooks, 1994). In adults, the average growth rate of fingernails is reported as 0.1 mm/day (de Berker and Forslind, 2004: 435), or around 3 mm/month (Scanlon and Sanders, 2007:96), and varies from about 0.5-1.2 mm/week (Beaven and Brooks, 1994: 20), assuming that the individual is not suffering from any ailment that might affect nail growth. Beaven and Brooks (1994) report that it takes approximately 3 months in a young adult for the nail to grow from base to tip, and 4-6 months in an older adult, although Hamilton and colleagues' (1955) results indicate that in young adults (~20 years) it is closer to 4 months. In younger children, this time is significantly reduced (Beaven and Brooks, 1994; Hamilton et al., 1955). Nail growth rates respond relatively quickly to metabolic upset, and serious illness or malnutrition can cause a temporary cessation or decline in growth, minutely altering the appearance of the nail (Gilchrist and Buxton, 1939; Beaven and Brooks, 1994). On the other hand, trauma, even nail biting, can stimulate growth, leading to nails growing out thicker and at a slightly faster rate (Beaven and Brooks, 1994). Several studies have also demonstrated a correlation between aging and reduced growth rate (e.g. Hamilton et al., 1955; Orentreich et al., 1979; Bean, 1980). Furthermore, growth rate also differs by sex (Hamilton et al., 1955; Orentreich et al., 1979).

Nails have not been used as often as hair in paleodiet studies, although they have found their way into the archaeological literature to a limited extent (e.g., Williams, 2008). Nails are used more frequently as a component in studies on modern populations (e.g., O'Connell et al., 2001; Fraser et al., 2006; Nardoto et al., 2006; Buchardt et al., 2007), or in a forensic context (e.g., Meier-Augenstein and Fraser, 2008; Meier-Augenstein, 2010). The bulk keratin in adult nails is thought to represent approximately the last six months of the individual's diet, although estimates vary (O'Connell et al., 2001; Nardoto et al., 2006). Similar to bone collagen, nail preservation for isotopic studies is usually evaluated via atomic C/N ratio (Williams, 2008).

Hair

Hair is also a part of the integumentary system, and like nails it is a derivative structure of skin. In humans, scalp hair serves a limited number of functions, including providing a degree of protection against cold (Scanlon and Sanders, 2007). Hair emanates from hair follicles located in the dermis, extending into the stratum corneum of the epidermis, and is primarily composed of the protein keratin (Robbins, 2002). Although there are several varieties of hair on the human body, this section will focus on scalp hair as the type relevant to the project.

Hair growth has three stages: anagen, catagen, and telogen. Anagen is the active growing phase, catagen is the transitional or involutional phase, and telogen is the resting stage (Messenger and Dawber, 1997; Robbins, 2002). During the anagen phase, hair grows at a stable, steady rate, often replacing an older hair in the telogen phases (Messenger and Dawber, 1997). The anagen phase is often said to last for approximately 1000 days, but it has been demonstrated that it can vary considerably, even down to 550 days (Courtois et al., 1995; Messenger and Dawber, 1997). While a hair follicle remains in the anagen phase for several years, both the catagen and telogen stages are considerably shorter (Messenger and Dawber, 1997; Robbins, 2002). Catagen is a transitional stage, where the base of the hair follicle moves up toward the epidermal surface and metabolic activity decreases, although the hair shaft continues to keratinize (Messenger and Dawber, 1997; Robbins, 2002). Hair takes on a 'club-shape', and the cessation of melanization means that the hair lacks pigmentation (Messenger and Dawber, 1997). This phase lasts approximately 2-3 months (Messenger and Dawber, 1997). Telogen is the

resting stage, in which metabolic activity stops. In most instances, a new hair fiber grows to replace the old one, pushing the telogen phase hair shaft toward the skin surface and causing it to be shed, but until this happens the telogen hair may be retained in the epithelial sac for several months (Messenger and Dawber, 1997; Robbins, 2002). If, on the other hand, a telogen phase hair is plucked, it can cause the onset of the anagen phase to advance (Messenger and Dawber, 1997). Complete replacement of all hairs on the scalp will take place, on average, every 3-5 years (Saitoh et al., 1969).

The duration of each phase of the cycle and the distribution of growing phases on the scalp can vary due to a number of factors, both inter- and intra-individually, including age, sex, health, and ancestry (Messenger and Dawber, 1997; Loussouarn, 2001). Furthermore, there is also variation in the percentage of hairs found in each cycle in a given individual. Approximately 80-95% of hair follicles (88% on average) in adults are in the anagen phase, and if telogen hairs make up more than 25% it is usually considered abnormal (Messenger and Dawber, 1997; O'Connell and Hedges, 1999). Hairs in the catagen phase represent only approximately 1-3% of scalp hair, but are not always demonstrable in a clinical setting (Messenger and Dawber, 1997). Variation in these percentages has been demonstrated by both age and sex. Juveniles typically have a higher average anagen: telogen ratio than adults, approximately 90% (Messenger and Dawber, 1997). The distribution also varies by ancestry, as it has also been demonstrated that individuals of African descent have a higher percentage of telogen hairs compared to those of European descent (Loussouarn, 2001). Hair follicles grow independently of one another, meaning that adjacent hairs may be in a different phase of growth; this is referred to as a mosaic pattern (Dawber and van Neste, 2004). For isotopic studies, this can cause a lag of around 0-3

months in ~10% of the isotopic signature if the sample taken includes mixed-growth phases (O'Connell and Hedges, 1999; Williams et al., 2011). For this reason, Williams and colleagues (2011) conclude that phase identification can be crucial for reducing growth cycle error, and gaining a more refined understanding of positional-temporal relationships in sequentially segmented hair.

Adult scalp hair grows at a steady rate of approximately 0.35-0.4 mm/day (Lindberg and Forslind, 2004), or 8-10 mm/month, often given as one centimeter (Myers and Hamilton, 1951; Scanlon and Sanders, 2007). One centimeter of hair, therefore, represents about one month of growth, so a 6 cm sample will represent about 6 months, and so forth (O'Connell and Hedges, 1999). Although the duration of growing phases and the distribution of growing phases on the scalp are variable, the growth rate is remarkably stable, with some exceptions. Myers and Hamilton (1951) compared hair growth rate of their subjects aged 9-11 with an adult sample, and report daily averages of 0.41 mm (for the crown) and 0.37 mm (for the supraear region of the scalp), compared with 0.30 mm and 0.32 mm in their 21-30 year old subjects. It has also been noted that linear growth rate decreases in individuals with thinning hair (Dawber and van Neste, 2004).

Hair growth and hair quality varies over the course of the human life cycle, notably within the age ranges examined for this project. Infants (< 1 year) have very fine hair with a maximum length of around 15 cm (Robbins, 2002). This is replaced after the first year by primary terminal hair – also referred to as prepubertal or children's hair – which is thicker in diameter (~60 μ m) and reaches a maximum length of approximately 60 cm (Robbins, 2002). As the timing of hair growth phases is controlled primarily by hormones, it is not surprising that

puberty leads to another major change in hair quality (Robbins, 2002). The onrush of hormones associated with puberty leads to the development of secondary terminal hair, which is coarser, longer and thicker in diameter (~100 μ m) than children's hair (Robbins, 2002). The average maximum length is extended to 100 cm, although obviously much variation exists, and many people surpass this length to a considerable degree (Robbins, 2002). After puberty the anagen growth phase of scalp hair shortens, and as a result hair appears both shorter and finer, and has a decreased diameter (Robbins, 2002).

Hair has achieved a greater presence in isotopic research on archaeological samples than either skin or nails (e.g. Macko et al., 1999; Schwarcz and White, 2004; Roy et al., 2005; Knudson et al., 2007; Finucane, 2007; Williams, 2008; Williams et al., 2011). Likewise, numerous isotopic studies on modern human hair have also been conducted, usually related to dietary analysis (e.g., Nakamura et al., 1982; Macko et al., 1999; O'Connell and Hedges, 1999; O'Connell et al., 2001; Bol and Pflieger, 2002; Fraser et al., 2006; Bol et al., 2007; Meier-Augenstein and Fraser, 2008; Meier-Augenstein, 2010; Raghavan et al., 2010; Thompson et al., 2010). When it is well-preserved, hair proteins have been shown to be quite structurally robust. Using X-ray diffraction and infra-red spectroscopy to compare ancient and modern hair samples, Lubec and colleagues (1987) found that the structural integrity of the proteins in hair may be maintained for thousands of years. Similar to bone collagen, hair preservation for isotopic studies is usually evaluated via atomic C/N ratio (Williams, 2008).

Carbon Fractionation and Inter-Tissue Spacing

Typically, the carbon isotope values in the body are not an exact match for those of the diet, nor are those found in one tissue equivalent to those found in another. Differences have

been consistently observed in numerous studies, caused by a combination of intrinsic and extrinsic factors. These are ultimately the result of the processes of fractionation, which are not always well-understood.

DeNiro and Epstein (1978) were among the first to observe within a controlled experimental setting that different tissues within the same organism may be enriched in δ^{13} C to different degrees. They also found that the spacing of these values varied depending upon the animal's diet. It was suggested, therefore, that "no single tissue can be analyzed in order to determine the carbon isotopic relationship between the animal and its diet. For the purpose of dietary analysis, the determination of the δ^{13} C values of several tissues from an animal will allow for a better estimate of the δ^{13} C of its diet than would the analysis of a single tissue" (DeNiro and Epstein, 1978: 501).

As bone is more typically preserved in the archaeological record, focus was placed on the differences observed between the δ^{13} C in bone collagen and bone carbonate. This difference was observed by Sullivan and Krueger (1981), the first study to isolate the carbonate in bone apatite for paleodietary analysis. They found that the carbon isotope ratios from carbonate were enriched by ~8‰ compared with those derived from collagen. Debate over whether the diagenetic processes affecting bone mineral rendered the material unfit for isotopic analysis (Sullivan and Krueger, 1983; Schoeninger and DeNiro, 1983), was followed by a critical examination of bone mineral diagenesis and the procedures necessary to isolate *in vivo* carbonate from diagenetic carbonate, resulting in more refined methods (Nelson et al., 1986; Thorp and van der Merwe, 1987; Lee-Thorp and van der Merwe, 1991). Krueger and Sullivan (1984) proposed that the reason for the differing isotopic values observed between collagen and carbonate was that the

carbon in each ultimately derived from different parts of the diet. In collagen, the carbon is derived from ingested protein. The carbonate in bone, however, is derived from dissolved bicarbonate in the blood, and therefore is obtained from the carbohydrates and lipids in the diet in addition to proteins, and is a closer representation of the 'whole diet' (Krueger and Sullivan, 1984; Schwarcz, 2002). The isotopic values of each bone tissue reflect the differing sources. This hypothesis is well supported by results from controlled feeding studies (e.g., Ambrose and Norr, 1993; Tieszen and Fagre, 1993).

Isotopic spacing between different soft tissues and between bone and soft tissue has been examined in a number of controlled feeding studies using animal models. Some of these have been conducted with explicitly archaeological analogues in mind (e.g., Hare et al., 1991; Ambrose and Norr, 1993; Tieszen and Fagre, 1993; Jim et al., 2004; Warinner and Tuross, 2009), while other studies derive from ecological concerns (e.g., Tieszen et al., 1983; Hobson and Clark, 1992; Trueman et al., 2005). Few of these contain the particular selection of tissues used in this study, or examine the relationship between inter-tissue spacing and age. Although there are inherent difficulties with applying animal data to humans, nevertheless these experiments have given us a better understanding of the processes of fractionation and the numerous factors that may affect tissue spacing.

As discussed above, a few controlled feeding studies have been used to support hypotheses about isotope fractionation differences between bone carbonate and bone collagen (Ambrose and Norr, 1993; Tieszen and Fagre, 1993; Jim et al., 2004). In addition, other studies have utilized a range of soft tissues not often found in the archaeological record. For example, DeNiro and Epstein (1978) examined multiple tissues of mice, which included hair and various

internal organs, including brain, liver, spleen, etc. They found that the enrichment factor between diet and hair, spleen and brain was positive, up to 1‰, while other tissues were depleted compared to dietary values. They also found that hair and spleen showed considerably more variation than other tissues. They do not offer an explanation for these observations, but state that their results indicate that utilizing multiple tissues for diet reconstruction would produce more robust conclusions than relying on only one (DeNiro and Epstein, 1978). Tieszen and colleagues (1983) observed a similar trend in their multi-tissue carbon isotope analysis of gerbil soft tissues, with hair being more enriched compared to diet than any of the other tissues in the study. They also concluded that tissues with higher metabolic activity and faster turnover would reflect changes in diet more quickly than those with slower turnover rates (Tieszen et al., 1983).

Tieszen and Fagre (1993) utilized a large array of tissues in their diet study on mice, including hair and bone collagen, although their primary focus was on furthering the understanding of fractionation between bone collagen and apatite. Using their results, one may calculate an average difference between hair and bone collagen δ^{13} C values across the eight diets tested: 2.9‰ ± 0.57, with bone collagen being consistently more enriched than hair. They found that dietary protein was by far the most significant contributor to isotopic values for both tissues (Tieszen and Fagre, 1993). Outside of the laboratory, consistent intra-individual differences between tissues have been observed in animals in the field, such as in Vogel's (1978) study on the diets of large African ungulates. Vogel (1978) observed consistent differences between bone collagen, hide, and flesh. Bone was found to be more enriched than hide by an average of 0.6‰ (Vogel, 1978).

Other studies are conducted using human subjects, such as that by O'Connell and colleagues (2001) utilizing hair, nail and bone samples derived from modern living humans. They examined amino acid composition of the materials as a possible explanation for observed variation in inter-tissue isotope values. Although both are proteinaceous, collagen and keratin differ in their amino acid composition (O'Connell et al., 2001). For example, glycine, an amino acid found in abundance in collagen, but not in keratin, typically displays significant δ^{13} C enrichment compared to other amino acids (O'Connell et al., 2001). Therefore, collagen would have a higher δ^{13} C enrichment factor than keratin (O'Connell et al., 2001). Hare and colleagues (1991), in a study involving bone collagen and muscle in pigs, also broke down the proteins in both materials to their basic amino acid components in order to understand observed isotopic patterns.

Similarly, Raghavan and colleagues (2010) examined the amino acid composition of bone collagen and hair in six archaeological individuals from Greenland, and found differences between the two tissues that could account for the 2-4‰ enrichment observed in δ^{13} C values. Results indicated that while the essential amino acids valine, lysine, and arginine showed similar values for both hair and bone, the essential amino acids phenylalanine and tyrosine (for which phenylalanine is a biosynthetic precursor) displayed a difference. This was also noted in the nonessential amino acids. They suggested that the differences could be the result of hair reflecting short-term seasonal variation in diet, although they were not able to fully resolve the issue of amino acid composition versus turnover rates without a more complete analysis of all amino acids in both tissues (Raghavan et al., 2010).

Corr and colleagues (2009) performed analyses on individual amino acids from the skin and bone in an ancient individual found frozen in a retreating glacier in British Columbia. The proportions of amino acids in both tissues were found to be consistent with the amino acid distribution in collagen. They also found that the δ^{13} C values found in the skin amino acids were consistently lower than those in bone collagen, and argued that the depletion, taken with the difference in turnover of these tissues, represented a shift in diet from marine to terrestrial resources in the last few months of the individual's life, concurrent with his moving further inland (Corr et al., 2009). Finucane (2007) also found an offset between skin and bone collagen and suggested short-term diet variation as a potential cause, but this explanation was recognized by the author as being somewhat unsatisfactory, given that the offset was observed in each comparison, and it seems unlikely that every individual would have altered their diet in a similar fashion in the last months of their life.

Because bone, hair, fingernails and skin differ in their rate of growth and turnover times, comparisons between bone, which represents an individual's diet over a period of years, and the soft tissues, which represent a period of months, have been used to investigate seasonal and other variations in diet in a population (e.g. White and Schwarcz, 1994; Macko et al., 1999; Dupras, 1999; Knudson et al., 2007; Williams, 2008). Physiological stress in the final months of an individual's life has also been suggested as a potential cause of isotopic discrepancies between bone and tissues with shorter turnover times (Finucane, 2007).

Much of the data on inter-tissue spacing in humans derives from archaeology, as in the studies listed above. For comparative purposes, a selection of results from a number of

archaeological studies is summarized in Table 1, along with studies from two modern populations and one controlled feeding study.
Study	Туре	Origin	Δ_{BC-H}	Δ _{BC-N}	Δ _{BC-S}	$\Delta_{\text{H-N}}$	Δ _{H-S}	Δ_{S-N}
Tieszen and Fagre, 1993	Controlled Feeding (Mice)	Lab	$2.9 \pm 0.57^{*}$					
Vogel, 1978	Ecological (Ungulate)	South Africa			0.6			
O'Connell et al., 2001	Modern	UK	1.41 ± 0.45	**		0.21 ± .39		
Fraser et al., 2006	Modern	UK				$0.55\pm0.81^*$		
White, 1991	Archaeo.	Nubia	-0.98		1.05		-2.03	
White et al., 1999	Archaeo.	Egypt					-0.8	
Williams, 2005	Archaeo.	Peru	1.9 ± 1.4	2.0 ± 1.1	0.2 ± 1.0	0.4 ± 1.0	$1.6 \pm 1.92^{*}$	$1.7\pm1.84^*$
Finucane, 2007	Archaeo.	Peru			0.3 ± 1.84			
Knudson et al., 2007	Archaeo.	Chile	$\begin{array}{c} 1.7 \pm 1.6 \ \& \\ 1.0 \pm 0.8^{\dagger} \end{array}$					
Raghavan et al., 2010	Archaeo.	Greenland	$2.0 \pm 0.24^{*}$					

Table 1: Comparison of differences between δ^{13} C values of tissues across multiple studies

*Calculated for present study **Bone-Hair and Hair-Nail values represent two separate study groups, so Bone-Nail was not calculated †For mean of first segment of hair (0-2 cm) and sixth segment (10-12 cm) respectively

CHAPTER THREE: MATERIALS AND METHODS

Materials

The Dakhleh Oasis

The data used in this project were derived from individuals excavated from the Kellis 2 cemetery in the Dakhleh Oasis, Egypt. The Dakhleh Oasis is one of five oases in Egypt's Great Western Desert, and is located approximately 800 km SSW of Cairo (Figure 1). The oasis is approximately 2000-3000 km² (Mills, 1979).

Preservation of biological materials recovered from the Dakhleh Oasis is exceptional, owing to the hyper arid environment and conditions of burial. Many of the cemeteries located in the Dakhleh Oasis have proved to be a remarkable source for stable isotope research, since both the preservation and number of individuals recovered present ideal circumstances for relatively large scale isotope studies (Dupras, 1999; Schwarcz et al., 1999; Dupras et al., 2001; Dupras and Schwarcz, 2001; Dupras and Tocheri, 2007; Williams, 2008; Williams et al., 2011; Johns, 2012). It should also be noted that an unusually large number of juvenile remains have been recovered from the Kellis 2 cemetery (Tocheri et al. 2005).

Previous isotopic studies carried out on the skeletal population from the cemeteries of the Dakhleh Oasis have revealed a great deal about diet (e.g., Dupras, 1999), weaning and infant feeding practices (Dupras et al., 2001; Dupras and Tocheri, 2007), migration (Dupras and Schwarcz, 2001), season of death (Williams, 2008) and individual life histories (Johns, 2012).



Figure 1: Map of the Egypt showing location of the Dakhleh Oasis with an inset showing the location of Kellis 2 (Map courtesy of Dr. Lana Williams)

Kellis 2 Cemetery

Kellis 2, also called the East Cemetery (Figure 2), is associated with the ancient village of Kellis, a settlement occupied from the Late Ptolemaic into the Roman-Christian period. The archaeological and radiocarbon evidence from the cemetery suggest that it dates to c.AD 50 – AD 450, although this is still under some debate (Fairgrieve and Molto, 2000; Molto 2001). Out of an estimated 3000-4000 graves (Molto, 2002), 765 have been excavated as of 2011 (L. Williams, personal communication).

Of the analyzed skeletal remains, the Kellis 2 demography consists of 64% juveniles and 36% adults (Williams, 2008). The majority of juveniles (39%) are between 41 weeks gestation to one year, representing 25% of the total population. Approximately 14% of the population is between 13 months and 4 years, with approximately 6% between 5 and 10 years, and less than 3% between the ages of 11-15 years. The 11-15 year olds represent the smallest subset of the skeletal population as a whole (Wheeler, 2009).



Figure 2: Map of Kellis 2 Cemetery (Map courtesy of L. Williams)

Sample Used in this Study

The burial locations of the individuals sampled for this study are shown in Figure 3. Fifty-two individuals were sampled (Figure 4), representing approximately 7% of the total population and approximately 12% of juveniles recovered. These were divided into three age cohorts (Tables 2-4), using standard osteological methods, delineated along developmental lines: 1-4 years, 5-10 years, and 11-15 years (Wheeler, 2009). Tissues sampled for this project include hair samples from 52 individuals, nail samples from 30 individuals, skin samples from 39 individuals, and bone collagen samples from 12 individuals (Table 5). Tables 2-4 also provide a list of samples obtained from each individual.

Hair samples were taken in 1 cm increments, and a total of 203 hair segment samples were taken for all individuals. For nails, samples were taken from both the proximal and distal ends, and Tables 2-4 indicate which ends were sampled from each individual. A total of 55 nail samples were analyzed. Skin samples were taken primarily from tissue on the cranium (L. Williams, personal communication), and values represent bulk skin samples, 39 in total. All bone samples were collected and analyzed by Dr. Tosha Dupras and all soft tissue samples were collected and analyzed by Dr. Lana Williams, for their respective doctoral dissertations (Dupras, 1999; Williams, 2008).

Although these individuals had survived the most critical period between birth and one year (which is the average age at death for 39% of Kellis 2 juveniles), the individuals in the youngest cohort were still in a precarious position, as it is estimated that two-fifths of children in Roman Egypt did not live beyond the age of five (Bagnall, 1996). This group also encompasses the period of weaning, which began around the age of 6 months and ended at around 3 years

(Dupras et al., 2001). In the oldest cohort, juveniles between the ages of 11 and 15 were not only experiencing the physiological changes of puberty, with all its myriad challenges, but also the social changes and challenges of incipient adulthood. Some of the individuals in this category may have been considered full adults in their community (Bagnall and Frier, 1994), able either to marry or work in the fields, while others would have been on the very cusp of reaching that state.



Figure 3: Burial Locations of Individuals Sampled from the Kellis 2 Cemetery (Map courtesy of L. Williams)

Burial ID	Age	Hair	Nails	Skin	Bone (Collagen)
23	1.5	2 cm	Prox/Dist	Х	
70	1.5	2 cm	Prox/Dist	Х	Х
71	2	6 cm			Х
86	4	2 cm	Prox/Dist		Х
108	1.5	1 cm	Proximal	Х	Х
299	1.25	9 cm	Prox/Dist	Х	
323	1.5	1 cm		Х	
328	1.25	9 cm	Prox/Dist	Х	
330	4	5 cm		Х	
349	4	1 cm	Prox/Dist	Х	
351	4	1 cm		Х	
357	2	1 cm	Proximal	Х	
358	2.5	3 cm	Prox/Dist	Х	
362	3	2 cm		Х	
396	2	7 cm	Proximal		
487	2	5 cm		Х	
490	1.5	2 cm		Х	
519	2.5	6 cm	Prox/Dist	Х	Х
534	1.5	8 cm			
560	1.75	1 cm	Proximal	Х	
562	1.5	2 cm		Х	
579	1.5	6 cm		Х	
583B	2.5	7 cm	Prox/Dist		
593A	1.5	4 cm	Prox/Dist		
619	2	1 cm	Prox/Dist	Х	
620	2	4 cm	Prox/Dist		
624	1.5	4 cm	Prox/Dist	Х	
628	1.5	1 cm	Prox/Dist	Х	

Table 2: List of Samples Aged 1-4 Years (n=28)

Burial ID	Age	Hair	Nail	Skin	Bone (Collagen)
24	7	3 cm	Prox/Dist	Х	Х
49	7	10 cm			Х
64	6	2 cm	Prox/Dist	Х	Х
97	6	6 cm	Proximal		Х
163	5	1 cm		Х	
258	10	1 cm		Х	
336	5	3 cm		Х	
360	5	4 cm		Х	
370	5	1 cm	Prox/Dist	Х	Х
374	7	8 cm	Prox/Dist	Х	
520	8	3 cm	Prox/Dist	Х	
582	10	1 cm	Prox/Dist		
583A	7	2 cm	Prox/Dist	Х	
584	5	4 cm	Prox/Dist		

Table 3: List of Samples Aged 5-10 Years (n=14)

Table 4: List of Samples Aged 11-15 years (n=10)

Burial ID	Age	Hair	Nail	Skin	Bone (Collagen)
149	12	4 cm		Х	Х
173	12	1 cm			Х
239	15	4 cm	Prox/Dist	Х	
243	15	4 cm			
260	15	3 cm		Х	
263	13	1 cm		Х	
288	15	13 cm	Prox/Dist	Х	
295	11	8 cm		Х	
302	12	3 cm			
468	13	10 cm	Prox/Dist	Х	

 Table 5: Tissue representation by number of individuals

	Hair	Nails	Skin	Collagen
1-4 years	28	18	22	5
5-10 years	14	9	10	5
11-15 years	10	3	7	2
Total	52	30	39	12





Methods

Isotopic Sample Preparation

The bone collagen samples were processed by Dr. Tosha Dupras at McMaster University, as part of her doctoral dissertation (1999). Samples were prepared using methods described in Longin (1971) and modified by Chisholm and colleagues (1982). For further description of methods used, see Dupras (1999). Isotopic analyses were performed using a SIRA mass spectrometer. Precision of δ^{13} C analysis was within 0.08 ± 0.09 ‰. C:N ratios were measured using a Carlo-Erba C,N analyzer, in order to determine collagen preservation. Raw data values of δ^{13} C analysis are provided in the Appendix (Table 18).

The hair samples were prepared by Dr. Lana Williams (2008) at the Laboratory for Stable Isotope Science (LSIS) at the University of Western Ontario. Scalp sections were rehydrated using methods developed by Grupe and colleagues (1997) and Mekota and Vermehren (2005). For each individual, ~20-25 anagen hairs were collected and cut into 1 cm segments, following methods developed by Williams and colleagues (2011). Isotopic analyses were performed using an automated carbon and nitrogen analyzer with a continuous-flow stable isotope ratio mass spectrometer. Precision of δ^{13} C analysis was determined to be ± 0.04‰. Accuracy of analysis was a value of -24.03 ± 0.06‰. These results compared well with values obtained through calibration with NBS-22 carbon standard. Raw data values are provided in the Appendix (Table 17).

The nail samples and the samples of naturally desiccated skin were also prepared by Dr. Lana Williams at the LSIS at the University of Western Ontario, following methods outlined in Williams (2008). Isotopic analyses were performed using an automated carbon and nitrogen analyzer with a continuous-flow stable isotope ratio mass spectrometer. Precision of δ^{13} C analysis was determined to be $\pm 0.03\%$. Accuracy of analysis was determined to be $-24.0 \pm 0.12\%$. These results compared well with values obtained through calibration with NBS-22 carbon standard. Raw data are provided in the Appendix (Table 18).

The samples of naturally desiccated skin were also processed by Dr. Lana Williams at the LSIS at the University of Western Ontario, following methods outlined in Williams (2008). Isotopic analyses were performed using an automated carbon and nitrogen analyzer with a continuous-flow stable isotope ratio mass spectrometer. Precision of δ^{13} C analysis was determined to be $\pm 0.03\%$. Accuracy of analysis was determined to be $-24.0 \pm 0.12\%$. These results compared well with values obtained through calibration with NBS-22 carbon standard. Raw data are provided in the Appendix (Table 18).

Analysis of Isotopic Data

Means were calculated for the isotope values of the hair samples (in bulk), the nail samples, the skin samples, and the bone collagen samples, both overall and within each of the three age cohorts: 1-4 years, 5-10 years, and 11-15 years. The difference between the means for each tissue was also calculated, and the statistical significance of the observed variation was evaluated using a paired t-test. In addition, mean intra-individual differences between the tissue types, as well as inter-individual effects of age, were evaluated using hierarchical regression.

In addition to examining differences between aggregate means of bulk tissue data, segmented hair and nail data were also considered. The differences were re-calculated and examined using first centimeter (0-1 cm) hair data and proximal nail values to assess any changes occurring in the last month prior to death.

As well as examining the differences in inter-tissue spacing observed between the juvenile age cohorts, in *Chapter Five: Discussion*, the adult data from Kellis 2 were included as a comparison, to further illustrate age as a potential factor in isotopic values. Data from other

studies are also compared, and in some cases calculations were performed on the published data to facilitate better comparisons with results presented here.

Descriptive statistics were calculated using a Microsoft Excel spreadsheet, and all charts and tables were generated using the same program. Other statistical analyses were performed using IBM SPSS Statistics 20.

CHAPTER FOUR: RESULTS

Mean δ^{13} C isotope values were calculated for each tissue within each of the three age cohorts. The results are reported in Tables 6 and 7, along with the total number of samples for each tissue within each age group, as well as the standard deviation. Although hair samples were taken in 1 cm segments and nail samples include both proximal and distal portions, the n values in Tables 6 and 7 represent bulk samples. In all cases, unless otherwise indicated, hair and nail values reported represent bulk values.

The means are graphically represented in Figure 5. Figure 6 represents the mean, standard deviation, and minimum and maximum values for all age cohorts for all tissues: standard deviation is represented as a box around the mean, while range is indicated by error bars. Results indicate that the mean bone collagen δ^{13} C values are the most enriched and least variable across all age groups, while nail and skin values are both the most depleted and the most similar to one another in value across all age cohorts.

		1-4 years			5-10 years			11-15 years	
Tissues	n	δ ¹³ C (‰)	SD	n	δ ¹³ C (‰)	SD	n	δ ¹³ C (‰)	SD
Hair	28	-19.29	0.66	14	-19.68	0.39	10	-19.77	0.74
Nail	18	-20.04	0.69	9	-20.09	0.55	3	-20.42	0.58
Skin	22	-19.88	0.80	10	-20.10	1.30	7	-20.38	1.07
Collagen	5	-18.57	0.63	5	-18.70	0.22	2	-18.28	0.60

Table 6: Number of samples, mean δ^{13} C values, and standard deviation by age group

Table 7: Number of samples, mean δ^{13} C values, and standard deviation for all ages

Tissues	n	δ ¹³ C (‰)	SD
Hair	52	-19.51	0.66
Nail	30	-20.09	0.64
Skin	39	-20.03	0.99
Collagen	12	-18.57	0.46



Figure 5: Mean δ^{13} C (‰) by age category and tissue type.



Figure 6: Mean, standard deviation, and range of δ^{13} C (‰) values for each age cohort within each tissue type

Figures 7-9 display the range of values in more detail, providing a graphic representation of the maximum and minimum δ^{13} C values, in addition to the mean and standard deviation for each tissue type within each age category. Note that for all graphs, bulk hair and skin values are represented. The exact numbers are given in Tables 8-10. These graphs provide a more nuanced view of these data, and reveal several points of interest. Bone collagen shows the smallest range of isotope values across all age cohorts, as well as the lowest standard deviation in the 1-4 year and 5-10 year age cohorts. The lowest standard deviation in the 11-15 year cohort is seen in nail, which is only ±0.02‰ lower than the standard deviation for bone collagen. The standard deviation across all tissue types is most similar in the 1-4 year age cohort (±0.63‰ - ±0.80‰), whereas the 5-10 year and 11-15 year age cohorts show more variation (±0.22‰ - ±1.30‰ and $\pm 0.58\%$ - $\pm 1.07\%$ respectively). The standard deviation is highest for skin across all age categories.



1-4 Year Cohort

Figure 7: Mean, standard deviation, maximum and minimum δ^{13} C (‰) values of different tissues in 1-4 year age cohort

As in Figure 6, standard deviation is represented as a box around the mean, while range is indicated by error bars. Table 8 lists the numerical values for the 1-4 year age cohort represented by the graph in Figure 7.

Table 8: Mean, standard deviation, maximum and minimum $\delta^{13}C$ (‰) values of different tissues in 1-4 year age cohort

	Skin	Nail	Hair	Collagen
Max	-18.57	-18.92	-17.73	-17.58
Mean	-19.88	-20.04	-19.29	-18.57
Min	-21.74	-22.45	-21.18	-19.25
SD	0.80	0.69	0.66	0.63

5-10 Year Cohort



Figure 8: Mean, standard deviation, maximum and minimum δ¹³C (‰) values of different tissues in 5-10 year age cohort

As in Figure 6, standard deviation is represented as a box around the mean, while range is

indicated by error bars. Table 9 lists the numerical values for the 5-10 year age cohort

represented by the graph in Figure 8.

		e 10 jeur u	ge conore	
	Skin	Nail	Hair	Collagen
Max	-18.80	-18.62	-18.86	-18.41
Mean	-20.10	-20.09	-19.68	-18.70
Min	-22.44	-20.72	-20.44	-19.01
SD	1.30	0.55	0.39	0.22

Table 9: Mean, standa	rd deviation, maxi	mum and minimun	1 δ ¹³ C (‰)	values of	different
	tissues in 5-	10 year age cohort			





Figure 9: Mean, standard deviation, maximum and minimum δ¹³C (‰) values of different tissues in 11-15 year age cohort

As in Figure 6, standard deviation is represented as a box around the mean, while range is

indicated by error bars. Table 10 lists the numerical values for the 11-15 year age cohort

represented by the graph in Figure 9.

	Skin	Nail	Hair	Collagen
Max	-18.51	-19.60	-19.11	-17.85
Mean	-20.38	-20.42	-19.77	-18.28
Min	-21.99	-21.29	-24.33	-18.70
SD	1.07	0.58	0.74	0.60

Table 10: Mean, standard deviation, maximum and minimum	δ^{13} C (‰) values of different
tissues in 11-15 year age cohort	

Inter-tissue Spacing

To analyze the spacing of isotopic values between various tissues, the differences between the mean values for each tissue type were calculated, both overall and within each age cohort (Table 11). A paired t-test was performed to evaluate discernible differences between tissues at a 0.05 significance level across all age cohorts. All differences were found to be statistically significant across the age cohorts, except for the relationship between nail and skin. In Figure 10, it can be readily observed that the spacing between collagen and hair, collagen and skin, and collagen and nail is substantially larger in the 11-15 year old cohort than the spacing between the same tissues in the 1-4 and 5-10 years cohorts.

Mean within-person differences between the tissue types were evaluated using a hierarchical regression pairwise comparison, and the results showed that all differences are statistically significant except those between skin and nail. In addition, hierarchical regression revealed a slight inter-individual effect of age over all tissues types, with older individuals generally having enriched carbon values compared to younger individuals.

Tissues	All	1-4 yrs	5-10 yrs	11-15 yrs	t	p-value
$\Delta_{ m Skin-Nail}$	0.06 ± 0.18	0.16 ± 0.21	0.01 ± 0.43	0.04 ± 0.47	-1.256	0.336
$\Delta_{ m Hair-Skin}$	0.52 ± 0.17	0.59 ± 0.19	0.42 ± 0.41	0.61 ± 0.42	8.959	0.012
$\Delta_{ m Hair-Nail}$	0.58 ± 0.10	0.75 ± 0.14	0.41 ± 0.14	0.65 ± 0.26	5.980	0.027
$\Delta_{ m Bone\ collagen-Hair}$	0.94 ± 0.14	0.72 ± 0.29	0.98 ± 0.11	1.49 ± 0.44	-4.702	0.042
$\Delta_{\mathrm{Bone\ collagen}}$ -Skin	1.46 ± 0.21	1.31 ± 0.33	1.40 ± 0.42	2.10 ± 0.59	-6.421	0.023
$\Delta_{ m Bone\ collagen-Nail}$	1.52 ± 0.16	1.47 ± 0.30	1.39 ± 0.16	2.14 ± 0.49	-7.009	0.020

Table 11: Differences between mean δ^{13} C (‰) values of tissues





The preceding analyses utilize bulk values for all tissues. However, the hair samples were collected and analyzed in 1 cm segments, and for the nail samples, proximal and distal ends were analyzed separately. The first centimeter of hair and the proximal ends of the nails represent a period of time closest to the individual's death (i.e. around 1 month), and may reflect changes related to any conditions which precipitated death, such as illness or malnutrition. As these differences may be reflected in the inter-tissue spacing, a second graph was created using 1 cm hair values and proximal nail values in place of bulk hair and bulk nail values (Figure 11). These distance values are shown alongside those utilizing the bulk data in Table 12. Very little difference can be observed between this graph and that in Figure 10, nor in the numerical values shown in Table 12.



Figure 11: Inter-tissue spacing of mean $\delta^{13}C$ (‰) values (1st cm hair and proximal end of nail)

Tissues	All	1-4 yrs	5-10 yrs	11-15 yrs
$\Delta_{\text{S-N}}$	0.06 ± 0.18	0.16 ± 0.21	0.01 ± 0.43	0.04 ± 0.47
$\Delta_{\text{S-NPrx}}$	0.07 ± 0.20	0.19 ± 0.25	0.05 ± 0.46	0.02 ± 0.45
$\Delta_{\text{H-S}}$	0.52 ± 0.17	0.59 ± 0.19	0.42 ± 0.41	0.61 ± 0.42
$\Delta_{\rm H1cm-S}$	0.50 ± 0.18	0.55 ± 0.22	0.37 ± 0.42	0.57 ± 0.43
$\Delta_{\text{H-N}}$	0.58 ± 0.10	0.75 ± 0.14	0.41 ± 0.14	0.65 ± 0.26
$\Delta_{H1cm-NPrx}$	0.57 ± 0.15	0.74 ± 0.22	0.32 ± 0.22	0.59 ± 0.25
$\Delta_{\mathrm{BC-H}}$	0.94 ± 0.14	0.72 ± 0.29	0.98 ± 0.11	1.49 ± 0.44
$\Delta_{BC\text{-}H1cm}$	0.96 ± 0.16	0.76 ± 0.31	1.03 ± 0.12	1.53 ± 0.45
$\Delta_{\text{BC-S}}$	1.46 ± 0.21	1.31 ± 0.33	1.40 ± 0.42	2.10 ± 0.59
$\Delta_{\text{BC-N}}$	1.52 ± 0.16	1.47 ± 0.30	1.39 ± 0.16	2.14 ± 0.49
$\Delta_{\text{BC-NPrx}}$	1.53 ± 0.18	1.5 ± 0.33	1.35 ± 0.23	2.12 ± 0.47

Table 12: Inter-tissue spacing of all mean $\delta^{13}C$ (‰) values

CHAPTER FIVE: DISCUSSION

There are a number of factors affecting inter-tissue spacing of isotopic values, including differential fractionation effects from the diet (e.g. Krueger and Sullivan, 1984; Ambrose and Norr, 1993), the protein structure of the individual tissues (e.g. O'Connell et al., 2001), and the different turnover rates of the tissues, especially as they relate to dietary seasonality (e.g. Williams et al., 2011). Bone collagen has a slower turnover rate than the other tissues under consideration, and can reflect an average of several years' worth of dietary information, as opposed to hair, nails or skin, which reflects a period of only a few months or weeks (White and Schwarcz, 1994; O'Connell and Hedges, 1999; Williams et al., 2011). This can have a significant effect when diet varies seasonally, as previously shown in the Kellis 2 population from the Dakhleh Oasis (Dupras, 1999; Williams, 2008). In addition, it must be remembered that these short-term tissues represent the individual's last few months of life, and may well have been a time of great stress, either due to disease, malnutrition, or some other contributing factor, and the isotopic values derived from these tissues may reflect dietary changes related to the individual's metabolic condition (Williams, 2008). Another cause of inter-tissue isotopic spacing is in the variability of the basic amino-acid make-up of the proteins and differential fractionation of carbon isotopes in each of these tissues (Corr et al., 2009; Raghavan et al., 2010). Age has rarely been examined in detail as a source of variation in tissue spacing, especially among juveniles, but in this sample the evident disparity between the 11-15 year olds and the two younger age cohorts warrants some discussion. First, however, a comparison of the differences among tissue spacing trends in this population and other studies should be addressed.

Inter-tissue Spacing

The results of this study show a general trend of mean δ^{13} C values being arranged in this order, starting with the tissue of highest enrichment: bone collagen > bulk hair > skin = bulk nail (see Table 13, next section). There was some variation between the different age categories as to whether skin was more enriched than nail or *vice versa*, but the difference was not determined to be statistically significant at the 0.05 significance level using a paired t-test. The major constituents examined for each tissue are structural proteins (collagen for bone and skin, and keratin for hair and nail), which isotopically represent the protein content of diet, at least primarily (Tieszen and Fagre, 1993).

While short-term variation in diet can account for some differences between tissues with differing turnover rates, several studies have revealed that even when diet is controlled and unchanging, isotopic values show an inherent offset between tissues (e.g. Tieszen et al., 1983; Hare et al., 1991). Tieszen and colleagues (1983) found that hair was consistently more enriched than more metabolically active tissues such as muscle and liver. Bone collagen is likewise found in numerous studies to be more enriched than tissues like hair, skin and nail (e.g. O'Connell et al., 2001; Williams, 2005; Corr et al., 2009; Raghavan et al., 2010) as in the results given here. Given these trends it is difficult to explain why nail values should be as depleted as skin, given that nail grows more slowly than hair, and is not as metabolically active as skin (Tallitsch et al., 2006; Scanlon and Sanders, 2007), although see results are broadly similar to the few other studies that included nail (see Table 14, next section). O'Connell and colleagues (2001) found hair to be slightly more enriched than nail, as did Fraser and colleagues (2006) and Williams (2005).

Although the similarity between hair and nail is accountable, owing to the fact that both are composed of keratin, the similarity between nail and skin is less explicable, since skin is primarily Type I collagen, like in bone. However, differences in sampling technique may be at work here, as the Kellis 2 samples were taken primarily from the cranium, specifically the face (L. Williams, personal communication), where the dermis (the collagen component) is thinner, and therefore a higher percentage may represent epidermis, which is primarily composed of keratin (Tallitsch et al., 2006; Scanlon and Sanders, 2007). Therefore, the similarity between mean nail and skin values seen here may be a byproduct of this. In addition, the hyper arid desert environment in the Dakhleh Oasis may be a factor, as skin is the organ most exposed to the environment and acts as the body's primary barrier against it (Tallitsch et al., 2006; Scanlon and Sanders, 2007).

These tissues vary in their amino acid composition, which also helps account for some of the intrinsic variation between tissues. O'Connell and colleagues (2001) and Raghavan and colleagues (2010) cited this as the primary cause of disparity between bone collagen and hair, while Corr and colleagues (2009) found a similar result when comparing bone collagen to skin.

Cohort Variation

The obvious cohort outlier as far as inter-tissue spacing is concerned is the 11-15 year age cohort, and these individuals will be discussed in detail below. There are, however, other differences between age cohorts which should also be discussed. One would expect to see more variation in diet in the 1-4 year olds than in either of the others, because the individuals in this category would have been at various stages of the weaning process; indeed, the standard deviation of all tissues is consistently over 0.6‰. Standard deviation is also generally high in the

11-15 year age cohort (0.58‰ or greater), while the 5-10 year age cohort has lower values for nail, hair, and bone collagen (0.55‰, 0.39‰, and 0.22‰, respectively). This could be related to growth, as it has been shown in this population that the most pronounced childhood growth spurts occur between birth to five years and again after the age of ten (Wheeler, 2009).

Bone collagen typically has the least variation within each age cohort, which is not unexpected given that bone collagen represents an average of several years' worth of dietary information. Skin, which is arguably the most metabolically active of the soft tissues, consistently shows the highest standard deviation. This is lower in the 1-4 year age category than it is for either of the others, perhaps indicating more short-term variation in diet and lifestyle among the older children. This will be discussed in more detail below, as it relates to the 11-15 year age cohort.

Comparisons

To Other Studies

In certain respects, the results of this study are somewhat at odds with other bioarchaeological projects in which multiple soft tissues were analyzed, although the results are broadly similar to other studies. Very few studies have employed the full set of tissues used here, which makes contextualizing comparisons difficult. However, all four tissues are considered in Jocelyn Williams' 2005 dissertation, so this makes for the most useful comparison. A comparison of her results and those of this study can be found in Table 13, while results from these and other studies are compared in Table 14.

Tissuo	Procent Study	Williams, 2005:	Williams, 2005:	
115500	T lesent Study	Juveniles (1-15 yrs)	Total Population	
Bone Collagen	-18.57 ± 0.46	-10.95 ± 1.21	-11.0 ± 1.1	
Hair	-19.51 ± 0.66	-11.97 ± 1.32	-12.9 ± 1.5	
Skin	-20.03 ± 0.99	-11.33 ± 1.19	-11.3 ± 1.2	
Nail	-20.09 ± 0.64	-13.2 ± 2.25	-13.0 ± 1.4	

Table 13: Comparison of δ^{13} C (‰) values from present study to those from Williams (2005)

The results of this study differ from Williams' (2005) in many respects. Results from Williams' Peruvian sample (71% adult, 29% juvenile) indicated that the mean δ^{13} C values, ranked from most to least enriched, were: bone collagen > skin > hair > nail (2005). This trend is seen in the means for her total population, and in the data from juveniles between the ages of 1-15 years. Interestingly, the distance between hair and nail in Williams (2005) was much greater for the juveniles between 1-15 years than for the population as a whole (1.23 ± 1.4 versus 0.4 ± 1.0‰), while the difference between hair and skin was smaller (0.65 ± 0.6 versus 1.6 ± 1.9), owing to the fact that the mean hair value for the juveniles is more enriched than that of the whole population. The hair and nail distance for the total population was similar to the overall mean presented in this study (0.58 ± 0.65‰) and others (see Table 14). The difference between skin and bone collagen for her juveniles is considerably smaller (0.38 ± 0.6‰ versus 1.46 ± 0.73‰), resulting in the difference in ranking recorded above.

There are several other studies in which bone collagen was found to be more similar to skin, which, like bone, has Type I collagen as its primary constituent (e.g. Vogel, 1978; White and Schwarcz, 1994; Finucane, 2007). These (excluding White and Schwarcz, 1994), can be seen in Table 14. Note that the mean differences from the studies listed here either include both adult

and juvenile data bulked together, or adult data only. The differences between bone and skin values between this and other studies are intriguing. One possible explanation, as mentioned above, is that variation in skin sampling techniques may have an effect; Williams (2005) suggests that variation in the isotopic values of her skin samples may have resulted from variations in the thickness of the epidermis at sampling locations. Williams (2008) took skin samples primarily from the face, where there is less collagen (L. Williams, personal communication).

The difference between skin and nail in this study is small enough to be statistically insignificant, which also lends support to the hypothesis that there may be a higher percentage of keratin in the Kellis 2 skin samples. Unfortunately, few studies compare skin to nail, or include nail at all, so it is difficult to make further comparisons. Other variation between the results presented here and those other studies are likely caused by the significant differences in diet between populations, and even their respective environments.

Study	$\Delta_{ m BC-H}$	$\Delta_{ m BC-N}$	$\Delta_{ m BC-S}$	$\Delta_{ ext{H-N}}$	$\Delta_{ ext{H-S}}$	$\Delta_{ ext{S-N}}$
Present Study	0.94 ± 0.6	1.52 ± 0.6	1.46 ± 0.7	0.58 ± 0.7	0.52 ± 0.8	0.06 ± 0.8
Tieszen and Fagre, 1993	$2.9\pm0.6^{\ast}$					
Vogel, 1978			0.6			
O'Connell et al., 2001	1.41 ± 0.5	**		0.21 ± .4		
Fraser et al., 2006				$0.55\pm0.8^{\ast}$		
White, 1991	0.98		1.05		2.03	
White et al., 1999					-0.8	
Williams, 2005 (All)	1.9 ± 1.4	2.0 ± 1.1	0.2 ± 1.0	0.4 ± 1.0	$1.6 \pm 1.9^{*}$	$1.7 \pm 1.8^{*}$
Williams, 2005	$1.03\pm0.5^*$	$2.25 \pm 1.4^{*}$	$0.38\pm0.6^{*}$	$1.23 \pm 1.4^{*}$	$0.65\pm0.6^{*}$	$1.88 \pm 1.4^{*}$
(1-15 Years)						
Finucane, 2007			0.3 ± 1.84			
Knudson et al., 2007	$\begin{array}{c} 1.7 \pm 1.6 \: / \\ 1.0 \pm 0.8^{\dagger} \end{array}$					
Raghavan et al., 2010	$2.0\pm0.2^{\ast}$					
Note: All values represent adult or combined adult/juvenile data unless otherwise noted *Calculated for present study						

Table 14: Comparison of $\delta 1^{3}$ C inter-tissue spacing between this study and others

**Bone-Hair and Hair-Nail values represent two separate study groups, so Bone-Nail was not calculated [†]For mean of first segment of hair (0-2 cm) and sixth segment (10-12 cm) respectively

Comparison with the Dakhleh Adult Population

The results of the earlier studies from which the data in this project derives (Dupras,

1999; Williams, 2008), show the same overarching trend in how the mean values line up by

enrichment factor: bone >hair > skin = nail. Table 15 shows the mean δ^{13} C values for the total

population and the adult population for all tissue types, with the results of this study for

comparison. Table 16 and Figure 12 show the differences between tissues, adding in the mean of

the values for adults for comparison with those of the juveniles. The obvious outliers are in the 11-15 year age cohort, where the differences between bone collagen and skin, bone collagen and nails, and bone collagen and hair, are greater than those for any of the other age cohorts. Likewise, the distance between bone collagen and hair is also greater in this category, although the difference is not quite so pronounced. The 11-15 year olds differ not only from the rest of the juvenile sample, as seen above, but also from the adult members of the population.

Table 15: Mean δ^{13} C (‰) values compared between juveniles, adults, and total population

Age	Hair	Nail	Skin	Bone Collagen
1-4 Years	-19.29	-20.04	-19.88	-18.57
5-10 Years	-19.68	-20.09	-20.10	-18.70
11-15 Years	-19.77	-20.42	-20.38	-18.28
Adults (16-60+)	-19.45	-20.18	-20.19	-18.88
Total Population	-19.30	-20.00	-19.80	-18.80

Table 16: Inter-tissue spacing of mean δ^{13} C values: juveniles and adults

Tissues	1-4 yrs	5-10 yrs	11-15 yrs	Adult
Δ_{S-N}	0.16 ± 0.21	0.01 ± 0.43	0.04 ± 0.47	0.01 ± 0.22
Δ_{H-S}	0.59 ± 0.19	0.42 ± 0.41	0.61 ± 0.42	0.73 ± 0.32
$\Delta_{\text{H-N}}$	0.75 ± 0.14	0.41 ± 0.14	0.65 ± 0.26	0.73 ± 0.18
$\Delta_{\text{BC-H}}$	0.72 ± 0.29	0.98 ± 0.11	1.49 ± 0.44	0.57 ± 0.07
Δ_{BC-S}	1.31 ± 0.33	1.40 ± 0.42	2.10 ± 0.59	1.30 ± 0.14
$\Delta_{\text{BC-N}}$	1.47 ± 0.30	1.39 ± 0.16	2.14 ± 0.49	1.30 ± 0.18



Figure 12: Inter-tissue spacing of mean δ^{13} C (‰) values: juveniles and adults

11-15 Year Cohort: Adolescence in the Dakhleh Oasis

Why should this group of individuals show such a marked disparity from others in the population? One potentially significant difficulty with these analyses is variation in sample size between tissues and age cohorts, particularly the comparatively small number of bone collagen samples. This is especially unfortunate in the 11-15 year age cohort, in which only two of the individuals have bone collagen values. Ideally, a larger sample size would produce more robust results, and allow for the calculation of individual isotope distance measurements. In addition, this study does not account for sex, owing to the difficulty in skeletal determination of sex in juveniles, and it is conceivable that turnover/growth rates of some of the tissues under consideration may be variable by sex (nail is, as discussed above).

In spite of the relative paucity of 11-15 year olds in this study, this may still qualify as a fair representation of 11-15 year olds from the site as a whole. In fact, the 10 individuals in the

11-15 year old sample represent over half of the total number of 11-15 year old individuals recovered from Kellis 2, as opposed to the 28 individuals in the youngest cohort, who represent only a third of 1-4 year olds recovered from Kellis 2 (Williams, 2008). There are very few 11-15 year olds in the skeletal population as a whole, as this is not an age-group prone to high mortality rates. These were, after all, the individuals who proved themselves robust enough to live past childhood, particularly the critical period prior to the age of about five (Wheeler, 2009). They were also just transitioning into adulthood, although still less likely to be exposed to certain adult risks, such as death in childbirth, as marriages more typically took place in the late teens for women (Bagnall, 1996). However, Wheeler (2009) found a higher incidence of fractures in this age cohort, and suggested that they may represent the increasing incorporation of this age group into the workforce.

It should be noted that the individuals in this cohort (and indeed, all age cohorts) cannot be considered representative of the individuals of this age in the living population. They are representative of the non-survivors only, and given the scarcity of remains in this age group, it would seem that, in general, individuals who reached this age were likely to survive it. Individuals in this age cohort have a high number of non-specific stress markers (e.g. *cribra orbitalia*, enamel hypoplasia, etc.), particularly healed rather than active lesions. Although this is indicative of periods of ill-health or stressful episodes, it could paradoxically indicate general robusticity, as these are episodes which the individuals managed to survive (Wood et al., 1992). One must keep this in mind while examining the potential reasons for the observed differences between this and the other cohorts.

One potential source of the variation could be dietary. Previous studies have not focused on this age group nor have they reflected a change in diet when compared to the 5-10 year olds or the adults. Indeed, the only focus on dietary difference within the population, as it relates to age, occurs within the 1-4 year age cohort, with the weaning process beginning at approximately 6 months and continuing until the age of about 3.5 years (Dupras et al., 2001). Therefore it is not likely that this pattern would have previously been recognized.

The combination of the physiological stressors of puberty and the transition to adulthood may contribute to the inter-tissue spacing difference observed here. It is unfortunate that the potential effects of the physiological changes of puberty on δ^{13} C values in these tissues do not appear to have been explored in the literature. One can consider growth and turnover rates more generally, however, and it is significant to note that this age group corresponds with the onset of the adolescent growth spurt in this population (Wheeler, 2009).

It is difficult to find a precise estimate for turnover times and growth rates for these soft tissues in juveniles. It is generally acknowledged that fingernail growth rate decreases sharply with age among juveniles, and then levels off as an individual reaches adulthood (Beaven and Brooks, 1994). Generally, in isotope studies, an estimate of 4-6 months is given as the time period represented by a fingernail (e.g. O'Connell et al., 2001), but in most juveniles this is certainly an overestimate (Hamilton et al., 1955; Beaven and Brooks, 1994). Based on the clinical literature, a better estimate for young adults is on the order of 3-4 months, but this may be somewhat less for young teenagers, and the source does not define the age bracket for the category 'young adult' (Beaven and Brooks, 1994). Accurate skin turnover rates are even more difficult to estimate, especially for juveniles, although isotopic studies often give an estimate of

2-4 months (e.g. White and Schwarcz, 1994). This too may be an overestimate, as some of the clinical literature suggests it may be closer to 1-2 months, if skin is synthesized at a rate of approximately 2% per day (El-Harake et al. (1998). This is certainly true in the epidermis, where newly formed cells move from the innermost basal layer, the stratum germinativum, to the exterior layer, the stratum corneum, in 15-30 days and then remain in an inert state for approximately two weeks before being shed (Tallitsch et al., 2006).

The skin and nail isotopic values in these individuals nutritionally represent a brief period of time respectively on the order of 1-2 and approximately 3 months prior to death. This is in contrast to the bone collagen values, which represent a number of years (Pate, 1994). Hedges and colleagues (2007) found that in adolescents of both sexes between the ages of 10-15, the collagen turnover rate is higher, 10-30% per year, versus 1.5-4% per year in adults. This disparity in turnover rates may be related to the relative enrichment of δ^{13} C observed in the 11-15 year olds in this study, although without comparative turnover rates in the younger age groups this cannot be confirmed as the primary reason for this difference. Wheeler (2009) examined growth in detail among the juveniles of the Dakhleh Oasis, and found that the two greatest increases in long bone length occurred in the first five years of life, and again starting around the age of 10, something she identifies as likely correlating with the adolescent growth spurt. In this sample, the bone collagen values for both the 1-4 year cohort and the 11-15 year cohort are enriched compared to the 5-10 year cohort, and both have a higher standard deviation, which lends support to the hypothesis that the bone collagen enrichment may be correlated with childhood growth spurts.

The reason for the increased difference between bone collagen and nail or skin for the 11-15 year old cohort is that their nail and skin values are depleted compared to other age groups, while the bone collagen mean δ^{13} C value is enriched compared to other age groups. Hair values are likewise depleted, though not to the same extent. In an individual an enrichment in $\delta^{13}C$ values can indicate an increased protein intake, and, as a corollary, a depletion can be indicative of nutritional stress (Mekota et al., 2006). The slight depletion of short-term δ^{13} C values for this age group, representing the last few months of their lives, could indicate a period of nutritional stress. The stress undergone by this group in comparison to the others may be correlated with the physiological changes of puberty and the social changes of a transition to adulthood. An examination of the segmented hair data reveals that the mean δ^{13} C for the 0-1 cm samples (representing the last month prior to death) is -19.81 ± 0.51 %, while the mean for the rest of the hair segments (1cm+) is -19.76 \pm 0.79‰. This decrease, though present, is very slight. Looked at individually, it appears that while a slight decrease is evident in some individuals' hair segments (e.g. #260, #239), it is not present in others (e.g. #243, #302). Some of the individuals displaying this decrease also have active cribra orbitalia lesions (e.g. #260, #239), which could support the hypothesis of a stress episode at the time of death (Wheeler, 2009). However, the explanation of nutritional or other physiological stress would not be satisfactory for all individuals in any case, since it is very likely that many deaths in this age cohort are accidental rather than caused by disease or malnourishment. Wheeler (2009) found that out of all the juvenile age cohorts in Kellis 2, 10-15 year olds had the highest incidence of trauma. Indeed, several of the individuals in this sample have multiple fractures (Wheeler 2009), and although none are indicated to be perimortem, it does point to a general prevalence of hazards to these adolescents' physical safety.
Overall, although numerous explanations have been considered, it is evident that none is entirely satisfactory, and multiple factors are likely to be at work. Further studies into the lifestyles of young teenagers in this time period and location may help to shed light on these results. Furthermore, isotopic research with an aim at understanding the ramifications of adolescent growth and development will undoubtedly be necessary for a more refined understanding of this topic.

CHAPTER SIX: CONCLUSION

Although stable isotope analysis has been an active area of research for over three decades in bioarchaeology, it continues to expand, in use and in scope. As it does, our understanding of the minutia of the biochemistry of the human body and its applications in the study of ancient lives continues to grow. Inter-tissue spacing of isotopic values is one area where, although great strides have been made, some of the mechanisms and variables are still obscure.

The focus of this thesis is an examination of age as a factor in inter-tissue spacing, utilizing bone collagen, hair, skin and fingernails from 52 juvenile remains from the Dakhleh Oasis, Egypt. Such a collection is only rarely available for such a study, owing to the relative paucity of well-preserved juvenile remains in an archaeological context. The individuals in the sample were divided into three age groups, and one, the 11-15 year-olds, differed considerably from the other age groups, including adults in the population, in the distance between bone collagen and skin, bone collagen and nail, and bone collagen and hair. The reasons for this are not fully understood, although it is hypothesized that it relates to changing social and physiological circumstances experienced by these individuals at this important transitional phase in their lives. It is evident that numerous factors must be taken into account in considering this question, and finding a definitive conclusion is unlikely given the limitations of both the data and the background literature.

The first limitation to consider is that of sample size, as the outliers in this study also represent the smallest subset of the population. A second limitation is the paucity of historical data regarding this age group, which could be compared to the skeletal and isotopic data. There

65

are also limitations regarding our current understanding of the relationship between age, growth and development in humans and stable isotope value. Tissue turnover rates in juveniles are also poorly understood. Finally, although bone and to a lesser extent hair are utilized in a number of stable isotope studies, there is also a relative scarcity of studies which utilize nail and skin. A better understanding of skin in stable isotope analysis would help make sense of some of the results, and perhaps lead to better standardization of sampling techniques.

The results indicate that further studies into the effects of age on inter-tissue spacing would be well-advised to better understand the complex intersection of the social, cultural and biological factors which affect the biochemistry of human tissues. More controlled studies utilizing nail and skin in comparison with other tissues would be particularly useful for furthering our understanding of the mechanisms of inter-tissue spacing. More studies involving juveniles are necessary in order to clarify the effects of age and childhood growth on inter-tissue spacing, and isotopic values more generally. In particular, it would be useful to see if similar results for 11-15 year olds would be found in other populations. This could help clarify the question of whether the sociocultural or the physiological factors are of greater influence.

This study has shown evidence that age may have a considerable effect on isotopic spacing between human tissues, and therefore it is crucial that age be taken into account as a factor in studies considering inter-tissue spacing, and isotopic studies in general, especially as our understanding of the subject is currently somewhat lacking. It is not immediately evident what the specific effects of growth and development are on inter-tissue spacing of isotopic values, or to what extent these intrinsic factors are affected by extrinsic social and environmental ones. Further studies are necessary to clarify these issues. However, the basic matter of

66

importance shown here is that age should definitely be considered as a factor in inter-tissue spacing in stable isotope analysis.

APPENDIX: RAW DATA

Burial ID	Age	0-1cm	1-2cm	2-3cm	3-4cm	4-5cm	5-6cm	6-7cm	7-8cm	8-9cm	9-10cm	10-11cm	11-12cm	12-13cm
23	1.5	-21.15	-19.83											
70	1.5	-18.83	-18.55											
71	2	-18.26	-18.09	-17.93	-18.24	-18.92	-19.04							
86	4	-19.80	-19.66											
108	1.5	-19.20												
299	1.25	-19.23	-19.03	-18.74	-18.51	-18.41	-18.57	-18.73	-18.93	-19.29				
323	1.5	-19.54												
328	1.25	-18.78	-18.92	-19.19	-19.87	-20.28	-18.88	-19.16	-19.34	-18.98				
330	4	-17.94	-18.58	-19.35	-19.61	-19.75								
349	4	-19.40												
351	4	-19.67												
357	2	-18.88												
358	2.5	-19.36	-19.64	-19.90										
362	3	-19.75	-19.60											
396	2	-18.98	-19.26	-19.46	-19.70	-19.52	-18.88	-18.38						
487	2	-17.73	-18.14	-18.91	-19.35	-19.09								
490	1.5	-19.19	-19.95											
519	2.5	-19.70	-20.45	-21.18	-20.96	-19.84	-19.66							
534	1.5	-18.91	-19.15	-19.01	-18.97	-18.92	-18.87	-18.82	-18.96					
560	1.75	-19.00												
562	1.5	-20.31	-19.97											
579	1.5	-19.65	-19.15	-18.90	-18.87	-18.70	-18.91							
583B	2.5	-19.78	-19.31	-19.15	-19.42	-19.52	-19.62	-19.41						
593A	1.5	-18.95	-19.12	-20.37	-19.05									
619	2	-20.88												
620	2	-19.39	-20.38	-19.91	-20.65									

Table 17: Hair δ^{13} C Values for All Age Categories

Burial ID	Age	0-1cm	1-2cm	2-3cm	3-4cm	4-5cm	5-6cm	6-7cm	7-8cm	8-9cm	9-10cm	10-11cm	11-12cm	12-13cm
624	1.5	-19.41	-19.42	-19.63	-19.62									
628	1.5	-19.53												
24	7	-19.58	-19.49	-19.60										
49	7	-19.50	-19.61	-19.67	-19.77	-19.88	-19.83	-19.95	-20.03	-19.99	-19.68			
64	6	-19.66	-19.63											
97	6	-19.58	-19.56	-19.28	-18.96	-19.27	-19.14							
163	5	-20.23												
258	10	-19.65												
336	5	-19.92	-19.88	-20.08										
360	5	-19.58	-19.20	-19.09	-19.29									
370	5	-19.83												
374	7	-19.17	-19.06	-19.03	-18.86	-19.58	-19.60	-19.78	-20.02					
520	8	-20.18	-20.21	-20.39										
582	10	-19.70												
583A	7	-19.70	-19.60											
584	5	-20.00	-20.43	-20.16	-20.44									
149	12	-20.13	-20.16	-19.98	-19.77									
173	12	-19.73												
239	15	-19.82	-19.29	-19.11	-19.20									
243	15	-19.21	-19.25	-19.46	-19.60									
260	15	-21.08	-20.44	-20.12										
263	13	-19.51												
288	15	-19.60	-19.43	-19.68	-20.12	-24.33	-20.01	-19.89	-19.87	-19.65	-19.67	-19.36	-19.39	-19.70
295	11	-19.53	-19.31	-19.31	-19.32	-19.38	-19.54	-19.70	-19.72					
302	12	-19.67	-19.83	-19.64										
468	13	-19.80	-19.67	-19.65	-19.67	-19.56	-19.64	-19.54	-19.44	-19.86	-19.85			

Burial ID	Age	Nail Proximal	Nail Distal	Skin Bulk	Bone Collagen	
23	1.5	-20.36	-20.04	-20.25		
70	1.5	-19.51	-18.98	-19.61	-18.86	
71	2				-17.58	
86	4	-20.38	-20.12		-18.71	
108	1.5	-19.01		-19.49	-18.44	
299	1.25	-19.61	-19.37	-21.74		
323	1.5			-18.95		
328	1.25	-19.49	-18.92	-19.11		
330	4			-18.57		
349	4	-20.17	-20.76	-20.33		
351	4			-20.18		
357	2	-19.72		-20.35		
358	2.5	-20.24	-20.21	-18.98		
362	3			-20.89		
396	2	-22.45				
487	2			-20.22		
490	1.5			-20.19		
519	2.5	-19.89	-19.92	-19.14	-19.25	
534	1.5					
560	1.75	-19.70		-19.43		
562	1.5			-20.88		
579	1.5			-18.91		
583B	2.5	-20.04	-19.81			
593A	1.5	-20.50	-20.66			
619	2	-20.30	-20.34	-20.14		
620	2	-20.03	-19.77			
624	1.5	-19.26	-19.79	-19.67		
628	1.5	-20.66	-21.16	-20.54		
24	7	-19.92	-19.16	-20.56	-18.41	
49	7				-18.70	
64	6	-19.93	-19.90	-20.03	-19.01	
97	6	-18.62			-18.62	
163	5			-19.21		
258	10			-19.56		

Table 18: Nail, Skin and Bone Collagen δ^{13} C Values for All Age Categories

Burial ID	Age	Nail Proximal	Nail Distal	Skin Bulk	Bone Collagen
336	5			-22.19	
360	5			-18.82	
370	5	-20.09	-20.33	-19.31	-18.74
374	7	-20.59	-20.50	-18.80	
520	8	-20.72	-20.67	-20.10	
582	10	-19.86	-20.04		
583A	7	-20.14	-20.01	-22.44	
584	5	-20.55	-20.51		
149	12			-21.02	-18.70
173	12				-17.85
239	15	-20.79	-21.29	-20.46	
243	15				
260	15			-20.29	
263	13			-19.84	
288	15	-20.17	-20.41	-21.99	
295	11			-20.56	
302	12				
468	13	-20.23	-19.60	-18.51	

REFERENCES

- Ambrose SH, Krigbaum J. 2003. Bone chemistry and bioarchaeology. Journal of Anthropological Archaeology 22(3):193-199.
- Ambrose SH, Norr L. 1993. Experimental evidence for the relationship of the carbon isotope ratios of whole diet and dietary protein to those of bone collagen and carbonate. In: Lambert JB, Grupe G, editors. Prehistoric Human Bone: Archaeology at the Molecular Level. p. 1-37.
- Ambrose SH. 1990. Preparation and characterization of bone and tooth collagen for isotopic analysis. Journal of Archaeological Science 17(4):431-451.
- Babraj J, Cuthbertson D, Smith K, Langberg H, Miller B, Krogsgaard M, Kjaer M, Rennie M.
 2005. Collagen synthesis in human musculoskeletal tissues and skin. American Journal of
 Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism 289(5):E864-E869.
- Bagnall RS. 1996. Egypt in Late Antiquity. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Bagnall RS, Frier BW. 1994. The Demography of Roman Egypt. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Bean WB. 1980. Nail growth: Thirty-five years of observation. Archives of Internal Medicine 140(1):73.
- Beaven DW, Brooks SE. 1994. Color Atlas of the Nail in Clinical Diagnosis. 2nd ed. Barcelona: Mosby-Wolfe.
- Bol R, Marsh J, Heaton THE. 2007. Multiple stable isotope (¹⁸O, ¹³C, ¹⁵N and ³⁴S) analysis of human hair to identify the recent migrants in a rural community in SW England. Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry 21(18):2951-2954.

Bol R, Pflieger C. 2002. Stable isotope (¹³C, ¹⁵N and ³⁴S) analysis of the hair of modern humans and their domestic animals. Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry 16(23):2195-2200.

Bowman S. 1990. Radiocarbon dating. Berkeley: University of California Press.

- Buchardt B, Bunch V, Helin P. 2007. Fingernails and diet: Stable isotope signatures of a marine hunting community from modern Uummannaq, North Greenland. Chemical Geology 244(1-2):316-329.
- Chisholm BS, Nelson DE, Schwarcz HP. 1982. Stable-carbon isotope ratios as a measure of marine versus terrestrial protein in ancient diets. Science 216(4550):1131-1132.
- Corr LT, Richards MP, Grier C, Mackie A, Beattie O, Evershed RP. 2009. Probing dietary change of the Kwädąy Dän Ts'inchį individual, an ancient glacier body from British Columbia: II. Deconvoluting whole skin and bone collagen δ¹³C values via carbon isotope analysis of individual amino acids. Journal of Archaeological Science 36(1):12-18.
- Courtois M, Loussouarn G, Hourseau C, Grollier J. 1995. Ageing and hair cycles. British Journal of Dermatology 132(1):86-93.
- de Berker D, Forslind B. 2004. The structure and properties of nails and periungual tissues. In: Forslind B, Lindberg M, editors. Skin, Hair, and Nails: Structure and Function. New York: Marcel Dekker, Inc. p. 409-464.
- DeNiro MJ, Epstein S. 1978. Influence of diet on the distribution of carbon isotopes in animals. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta 42(5):495-506.

- DeNiro MJ, Epstein S. 1981. Influence of diet on the distribution of nitrogen isotopes in animals. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta 45(3):341-351.
- DeNiro MJ. 1985. Postmortem preservation and alteration of in vivo bone collagen isotope ratios in relation to palaeodietary reconstruction. Nature 317: 806-809.
- Dawber RPR, van Neste D. 2004. Hair and Scalp Disorders: Common presenting signs, differential diagnosis and treatment. 2nd ed. London: Martin Dunitz.
- Dupras TL, Schwarcz HP, Fairgrieve SI. 2001. Infant feeding and weaning practices in Roman Egypt. American Journal of Physical Anthropology 115(3):204-212.
- Dupras TL, Schwarcz HP. 2001. Strangers in a strange land: Stable isotope evidence for human migration in the Dakhleh Oasis, Egypt. Journal of Archaeological Science 28(11):1199-1208.
- Dupras TL, Tocheri MW. 2007. Reconstructing infant weaning histories at roman period Kellis, Egypt using stable isotope analysis of dentition. American Journal of Physical Anthropology 134(1):63-74.
- Dupras TL. 1999. Dining in the Dakhleh Oasis, Egypt: Determination of diet using documents and stable isotope analysis. PhD ed. McMaster: McMaster University.
- El-Harake WA, Furman MA, Cook B, Nair KS, Kukowski J, Brodsky IG. 1998. Measurement of dermal collagen synthesis rate in vivo in humans. American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism 274(4):E586-E591.
- Fairgrieve SI, Molto JE. 2000. Cribra orbitalia in two temporally disjunct population samples from the Dakhleh Oasis, Egypt. American Journal of Physical Anthropology 111: 319-330.

- Finucane BC. 2007. Mummies, maize, and manure: Multi-tissue stable isotope analysis of late prehistoric human remains from the Ayacucho Valley, Peru. Journal of Archaeological Science 34(12):2115-2124.
- Fogel ML, Tuross N, Johnson BJ, Miller GH. 1997. Biogeochemical record of ancient humans. Organic Geochemical 27(5):275-288.
- Forslind B, Lindberg M. 2004. An introduction to the book. In: Forslind B, Lindberg M, editors. Skin, Hair, and Nails: Structure and Function. New York: Marcel Dekker, Inc. p. 1-10.
- Fraser I, Meier-Augenstein W, Kalin R. 2006. The role of stable isotopes in human identification: A longitudinal study into the variability of isotopic signals in human hair and nails. Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry 20(7):1109-1116.
- Freinkel RK, Woodley DT. 2001. Introduction. In: Freinkel RK, Woodley DT, editors. The Biology of the Skin. New York: Parthenon Publishing Group. p. 15-18.
- Gilchrist ML, Buxton LHD. 1939. The relation of finger-nail growth to nutritional status. Journal of Anatomy 73(4):575.
- Gross JH. 2004. Mass Spectrometry: A Textbook. Berlin: Springer-Verlag.
- Grupe G, Schmid EM, Soika J. 1997. Identification of medieval human soft tissue remains in an advanced state of decomposition. Biotechnic & Histochemistry 72(3):135-140.
- Haake A, Scott GA, Holbrook KA. 2001. Structure and function of the skin: Overview of the epidermis and dermis. In: Freinkel RK, Woodley DT, editors. The Biology of the Skin. New York: Parthenon Publishing Group. p. 19-45.
- Haas J. 1989. Foreword. In: Price TD, editor. The Chemistry of Prehistoric Human Bone. SantaFe: Cambridge University Press Cambridge. p. xvii-xix.

- Hall RL. 1967. Those late corn dates: Isotopic fractionation as a source of error in carbon-14 dates. Michigan Archaeology 13(3):171-180.
- Hamilton JB, Terada H, Mestler GE. 1955. Studies of growth throughout the lifespan in Japanese: Growth and size of nails and their relationship to age, sex, heredity, and other factors. Journal of Gerontology 10(4):401-415.
- Hare EP, Fogel ML, Stafford TW, Mitchell AD, Hoering TC. 1991. The isotopic composition of carbon and nitrogen in individual amino acids isolated from modern and fossil proteins. Journal of Archaeological Science 18(3):277-292.
- Hedges REM, Clement JG, Thomas CDL, O'Connell TC. 2007. Collagen turnover in the adult femoral mid-shaft: Modeled from anthropogenic radiocarbon tracer measurements. American Journal of Physical Anthropology 133(2):808-816.
- Hobson KA, Clark RG. 1992. Assessing avian diets using stable isotopes I: Turnover of 13C in tissues. Condor:181-188.
- Hoefs J. 2009. Stable Isotope Geochemistry. 6th ed. Berlin: Springer-Verlag.
- Jim S, Ambrose SH, Evershed RP. 2004. Stable carbon isotopic evidence for differences in the dietary origin of bone cholesterol, collagen and apatite: Implications for their use in palaeodietary reconstruction. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta 68(1):61-72.
- Johns N. 2012. Stable isotopes and multiple tissue analysis: Reconstructing life histories for individuals from the Dakhleh Oasis, Egypt. MA, University of Central Florida.
- Katzenberg MA, Harrison RG. 1997. What's in a bone? Recent advances in archaeological bone chemistry. Journal of Archaeological Research 5(3):265-293.

- Katzenberg MA. 2008. Stable isotope analysis: A tool for studying past diet, demography, and life history. In: Katzenberg MA, Saunders SR, editors. Biological Anthropology of the Human Skeleton. 2nd ed. Hoboken: John Wiley & Sons, Inc. p. 413-441.
- Kellner CM, Schoeninger MJ. 2007. A simple carbon isotope model for reconstructing prehistoric human diet. American Journal of Physical Anthropology 133(4):1112-1127.
- Knudson K, Pestle W, Torres-Rouff C, Pimentel G. 2010. Assessing the life history of an Andean traveller through biogeochemistry: Stable and radiogenic isotope analyses of archaeological human remains from Northern Chile. International Journal of Osteoarchaeology. doi: 10.1002/oa.1217.
- Knudson KJ, Aufderheide AE, Buikstra JE. 2007. Seasonality and paleodiet in the Chiribaya polity of Southern Peru. Journal of Archaeological Science 34(3):451-462.
- Knudson KJ, Stojanowski CM. 2008. New directions in bioarchaeology: Recent contributions to the study of human social identities. Journal of Archaeological Research 16(4):397-432.
- Koolman J, Röhm KH. 2005. Color Atlas of Biochemistry. Stuttgart, Germany: George Thieme Verlag.
- Krueger HW, Sullivan CH. 1984. Models for carbon isotope fractionation between diet and bone. Stable Isotopes in Nutrition 258:205-220.
- Larsen CS. 2006. The changing face of bioarchaeology: An interdisciplinary science. In: Buikstra JE, Beck LA, editors. Bioarchaeology: The Contextual Analysis of Human Remains. Amsterdam: Academic Press. p. 359–374.
- Lee-Thorp JA, van der Merwe NJ. 1987. Carbon isotope analysis of fossil bone apatite. South African Journal of Science 83(11):712-715.

- Lee-Thorp JA, van der Merwe NJ. 1987. Carbon isotope analysis of fossil bone apatite. South African Journal of Science 83(11):712-715.
- Lee-Thorp JA, van der Merwe NJ. 1991. Aspects of the chemistry of modern and fossil biological apatites. Journal of Archaeological Science 18(3):343-354.
- Lindberg M, Forslind B. 2004. Formation and structure: An introduction to hair. In: Forslind B, Lindberg M, editors. Skin, Hair, and Nails: Structure and Function. New York: Marcel Dekker, Inc. p 273-284.
- Longin R. 1971. New method of collagen extraction for radiocarbon dating. Nature 230: 241-242.
- Loussouarn G. 2001. African hair growth parameters. British Journal of Dermatology 145(2):294-297.
- Lubec G, Nauer G, Seifert K, Strouhal E, Porteder H, Szilvassy J, Teschler M. 1987. Structural stability of hair over three thousand years. Journal of Archaeological Science 14(2):113-120.
- Macko SA, Engel MH, Andrusevich V, Lubec G, O'Connell TC, Hedges REM. 1999.
 Documenting the diet in ancient human populations through stable isotope analysis of hair. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences 354(1379):65-76.
- Mays S. 1998. The Archaeology of Human Bones. London: Routledge.
- Meier-Augenstein W, Fraser I. 2008. Forensic isotope analysis leads to identification of a mutilated murder victim. Science & Justice 48(3):153-159.

Meier-Augenstein W. 2010. Stable Isotope Forensics. Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

- Mekota A, Vermehren M. 2005. Determination of optimal rehydration, fixation and staining methods for histological and immunohistochemical analysis of mummified soft tissues.
 Biotechnic & Histochemistry 80(1):7-13.
- Mekota AM, Grupe G, Ufer S, Cuntz U. 2006. Serial analysis of stable nitrogen and carbon isotopes in hair: Monitoring starvation and recovery phases of patients suffering from anorexia nervosa. Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry 20(10):1604-1610.
- Messenger AG, Dawber RPR. 1997. The physiology and embryology of hair growth. In: Dawber RPR, editor. Diseases of the Hair and Scalp. 3rd ed. Oxford: Blackwell Science. p. 1-22.
- Michelin P, Lausarot C, Ambrosino F, Favro F, Conti A, Rabino-Masa E. 1972. Preservation and amino acid composition of Egyptian mummy structure proteins. J Hum Evol 1(5):489-499.
- Mills AJ. 1979. Dakhleh Oasis Project: report on the first season of survey, October–December, 1978. Journal of the Society for the Study of Egyptian Antiquities 9: 163–185.
- Molto JE. 2001. The comparative skeletal biology and palaeoepidemiology of the people from 'ein Tirghi and Kellis, Dakhleh Oasis, Egypt. In The Oasis Papers I: The Proceedings of the First Conference of the Dakhleh Oasis Project, Marlow CA, Mills AJ (eds). Oxbow: Oxford; 81–100.
- Molto JE. 2002. Bio-archaeological research of Kellis 2: an overview. In: Hope CA, Bowen GE, editors. Dakhleh Oasis Project: Preliminary Reports on the 1994-1995 to 1998-1999 Field Seasons. Oxford: Oxbow Books. p. 239-255.

- Myers RJ, Hamilton JB. 1951. Regeneration and rate of growth of hairs in man. Annual New York Academy of Science 53(3):562-568.
- Nakamura K, Schoeller D, Winkler F, Schmidt HL. 1982. Geographical variations in the carbon isotope composition of the diet and hair in contemporary man. Biological Mass Spectrometry 9(9):390-394.
- Nardoto GB, Silva S, Kendall C, Ehleringer JR, Chesson LA, Ferraz ESB, Moreira MZ, Ometto JPHB, Martinelli LA. 2006. Geographical patterns of human diet derived from stableisotope analysis of fingernails. American Journal of Physical Anthropology 131(1):137-146.
- Nelson BK, DeNiro MJ, Schoeninger MJ, De Paolo DJ, Hare PE. 1986. Effects of diagenesis on strontium, carbon, nitrogen and oxygen concentration and isotopic composition of bone. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta 50(9):1941-1949.
- O'Connell T, Hedges R, Healey M, Simpson A. 2001. Isotopic comparison of hair, nail and bone: Modern analyses. Journal of Archaeological Science 28(11):1247-1255.
- O'Connell TC, Hedges REM. 1999. Investigations into the effect of diet on modern human hair isotopic values. American Journal of Physical Anthropology 108(4):409-425.
- Orentreich N, Markofsky J, Vogelman JH. 1979. The effect of aging on the rate of linear nail growth. Journal of Investigative Dermatology 73(1):126-130.
- Pate FD. 1994. Bone chemistry and paleodiet. Journal of Archaeological Method and Theory 1(2):161-209.
- Price TD. 1989. Preface. In: Price TD, editor. The chemistry of prehistoric human bone. Santa Fe, NM: Cambridge University Press Cambridge. p. xx-xxiv.

- Raghavan M, McCullagh JSO, Lynnerup N, Hedges REM. 2010. Amino acid δ13C analysis of hair proteins and bone collagen using liquid chromatography/isotope ratio mass spectrometry: Paleodietary implications from intra-individual comparisons. Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry 24(5):541-548.
- Robbins CR. 2002. Chemical and Physical Behavior of Human Hair. 4th ed. New York: Springer.
- Roy DM, Hall R, Mix AC, Bonnichsen R. 2005. Using stable isotope analysis to obtain dietary profiles from old hair: A case study from Plains Indians. American Journal of Physical Anthropology 128(2):444-452.
- Saitoh M, Uzuka M, Sakamoto M, Kobori T. 1969. Rate of hair growth. In: Montagna W, Dobson RL, editors. Hair Growth. Oxford: Pergamon Press. p. 183–201.
- Scanlon VC, Sanders T. 2007. Essentials of Anatomy and Physiology. 5th ed. Philadelphia: F.A. Davis Company.
- Schoeller DA. 1999. Isotope fractionation: Why aren't we what we eat? Journal of Archaeological Science 26(6):667-673.
- Schoeninger MJ, DeNiro MJ. 1983. Carbon isotope ratios of bone apatite and animal diet reconstruction. Nature 301:178.
- Schoeninger MJ, DeNiro MJ. 1984. Nitrogen and carbon isotopic composition of bone collagen from marine and terrestrial animals. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta 48(4):625-639.
- Schoeninger MJ, Moore K. 1992. Bone stable isotope studies in archaeology. Journal of World Prehistory 6(2):247-296.

- Schoeninger MJ, Moore KM, Murray ML, Kingston JD. 1989. Detection of bone preservation in archaeological and fossil samples. Applied Geochemistry 4(3):281-292.
- Schurr MR. 1998. Using stable nitrogen-isotopes to study weaning behavior in past populations. World Archaeology 30(2):327-342.
- Schwarcz H. 2002. Some biochemical aspects of carbon isotopic paleodiet studies. In: Ambrose SH, Katzenberg MA, editors. Biogeochemical Approaches to Paleodietary Analysis. New York: Kluwer Academic. p. 189-209.
- Schwarcz HP, Dupras TL, Fairgrieve SI. 1999. ¹⁵N enrichment in the Sahara: In search of a global relationship. Journal of Archaeological Science 26(6):629-636.
- Schwarcz HP, Schoeninger MJ. 1991. Stable isotope analyses in human nutritional ecology. American Journal of Physical Anthropology 34(S13):283-321.
- Schwarcz H, White C. 2004. The grasshopper or the ant?: Cultigen-use strategies in ancient nubia from C-13 analyses of human hair. Journal of Archaeological Science 31(6):753-762.
- Sibinga MS. 1959. Observations on growth of fingernails in health and disease. Pediatrics 24(2):225-233.
- Sillen A, Sealy JC, van der Merwe NJ. 1989. Chemistry and paleodietary research: No more easy answers. American Antiquity 54(3):504-512.
- Stenhouse M, Baxter M. 1979. The uptake of bomb ¹⁴C in humans. In: Berger R, Suess HE, editors. Radiocarbon Dating: proceedings of the ninth international conference, Los Angeles and La Jolla, 1976. Berkeley: University of California Press. p. 324-341.

- Sullivan CH, Krueger HW. 1981. Carbon isotope analysis of separate chemical phases in modern and fossil bone. Nature 292:333-335.
- Sullivan CH, Krueger HW. 1983. Carbon isotope ratios of bone apatite and animal diet reconstruction. Nature 301:177.
- Tallitsch RB, Martini F, Timmons MJ. 2006. Human Anatomy. 5th ed. San Francisco: Pearson/Benjamin Cummings.
- Tauber H. 1981. ¹³C evidence for dietary habits of prehistoric man in Denmark. Nature 292: 332-333.
- Thompson A, Chesson L, Podlesak D, Bowen G, Cerling T, Ehleringer J. 2010. Stable isotope analysis of modern human hair collected from Asia (China, India, Mongolia, and Pakistan). American Journal of Physical Anthropology 141(3):440-451.
- Tieszen LL, Boutton TW, Tesdahl K, Slade NA. 1983. Fractionation and turnover of stable carbon isotopes in animal tissues: Implications for δ^{13} C analysis of diet. Oecologia 57(1):32-37.
- Tieszen LL, Fagre T. 1993. Effect of diet quality and composition on the isotopic composition of respiratory CO₂, bone collagen, bioapatite, and soft tissues. In: Lambert JB, Grupe G, editors. Prehistoric Human Bone: Archaeology at the Molecular Level. New York: Springer. p. 121-155.
- Tocheri M, Dupras T, Sheldrick P, Molto J. 2005. Roman period fetal skeletons from the East Cemetery (Kellis 2) of Kellis, Egypt. International Journal of Osteoarchaeology 15(5):326-341.

- Trueman CN, McGill RAR, Guyard PH. 2005. The effect of growth rate on tissue-diet isotopic spacing in rapidly growing animals. An experimental study with Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry 19(22):3239-3247.
- van Klinken GJ. 1999. Bone collagen quality indicators for palaeodietary and radiocarbon measurements. Journal of Archaeological Science 26(6):687-695.
- Vogel JC. 1978. Isotopic assessment of the dietary habits of ungulates. South African Journal of Science 74:298-301.
- Vogel JC, van der Merwe NJ. 1977. Isotopic evidence for early maize cultivation in New York State. American Antiquity 42(2):238-242.
- Warinner C, Tuross N. 2009. Alkaline cooking and stable isotope tissue-diet spacing in swine: Archaeological implications. Journal of Archaeological Science 36(8):1690-1697.
- Weld SR. 1985. Carbon-13 evidence for ancient diet in China. English Translation of Paper by Cai Lian-Zhen and Qui Shih-Hua.
- Wheeler SM. 2009. Bioarchaeology of infancy and childhood at the Kellis 2 cemetery, Dakhleh Oasis, Egypt. PhD ed. London, Ontario: University of Western Ontario.
- White CD, Longstaffe FJ, Law KR. 1999. Seasonal stability and variation in diet as reflected in human mummy tissues from the Kharga Oasis and the Nile Valley. Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology 147(3):209-222.
- White CD, Schwarcz HP. 1994. Temporal trends in stable isotopes for Nubian mummy tissues. American Journal of Physical Anthropology 93(2):165-187.
- White CD. 1991. Isotopic analysis of multiple human tissues from three ancient Nubian populations. PhD ed. University of Toronto.

- White TD, Black MT, Folkens PA. 2011. Human Osteology. 3rd ed. San Diego: Academic Press.
- Williams JS. 2005. Investigating diet and dietary change using the stable isotopes of carbon and nitrogen in mummified tissues from Puruchuco-Huaquerones, Peru. PhD Dissertation.
 University of Calgary.
- Williams LJ. 2008. Investigating seasonality of death at Kellis 2 cemetery using solar alignment and isotopic analysis of mummified tissues. PhD Dissertation. University of Western Ontario.
- Williams L, White C, Longstaffe F. 2011. Improving stable isotopic interpretations made from human hair through reduction of growth cycle error. American Journal of Physical Anthropology 145(1):125-136.
- Wood JW, Milner GR, Harpending HC, Weiss KM. 1992. The osteological paradox: Problems of inferring prehistoric health from skeletal samples. Current Anthropology 33(4):343-370
- Wright LE, Yoder CJ. 2003. Recent progress in bioarchaeology: Approaches to the osteological paradox. Journal of Archaeological Research 11(1):43-70.